A COMPARATIVE STUDY OF HYBRID COMPENSATION SYSTEMS USING A MULTIPLE FEEDBACK CONTROL SCHEME

CENTRE FOR NEWFOUNDLAND STUDIES

TOTAL OF 10 PAGES ONLY MAY BE XEROXED

(Without Author's Permission)











National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisisitons et services bibliographiques

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada 395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-89660-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-89660-9

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou aturement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this dissertation.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the dissertation. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de ce manuscrit.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Canadä

A Comparative Study of Hybrid Compensation Systems Using a Multiple Feedback Control Scheme

By

© Odion Okogun, B. Eng (Hons.)

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of Master of Engineering

Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science Memorial University of Newfoundland December 2002

St. John's

Newfoundland

Canada

Abstract

This thesis is an investigation of hybrid compensation topologies for mitigating load current harmonics, supply and load voltage distortion using a comparison approach. Four hybrid topologies are considered with a hybrid load consisting of current source type and voltage source type nonlinear loads. The compensation systems use the synchronous frame method for harmonic current extraction and propose an extraction scheme for the distortion voltage, which is based on a comparison of the distorted voltage with a fixed reference. The suitability of the multiple feedback loop control scheme was also investigated. It was determined that the scheme is effective in the generation of sinusoidal and distortion components of compensating currents and voltages and hence suitable for active filtering application.

Using the extraction and control schemes, the performance of the compensation systems was examined under different conditions of supply voltage and load currents. The results obtained showed the functionality of the control schemes in the compensation of disturbances caused by non-linear load operations and source end distortions.

A methodical determination of the ratings of the active filters in the hybrid compensators is also presented. The results show that rating curve is a function of the active filter type and the impedance of the passive filter.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my heartfelt thanks to my supervisor Dr. J. E. Quaicoe for his invaluable guidance, constant encouragement, understanding and financial support throughout the preparation of this thesis. Thanks are also due to the academic and nonacademic staff of the Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science for being available when I needed them most. Appreciation is also extended to friends and fellow graduate students for all the help and suggestions given to me in the course of this work.

Finally, I my gratitude go to my sister Eunice, and brother-in-law Collins for all the help I got and for providing an atmosphere of love and understanding.

Contents

			· ·	
Ab	ostract	t		i
Ac	know	ledgeme	ent	ii
Ta	ble of	Conten	nts	iji
Lis	st of F	igures		vii
Li	st of T	ables		xiv
1	Intr	oductio	n and Literature Review	1
	1.1	Literat	ture Review	6
	1.2	Passiv	ve Compensators	7
		1.2.1	Shunt passive filters	7
		1.2.2	Series passive filters.	9
	1.3	Active	e Compensating Devices	10
		1.3.1	Series active filters	10
		1.3.2	Shunt active filters	11
		1.3.3	Combined series and shunt active filters	13
	1.4	Hybrid	d Filters	14
		1.4.1	Hybrid shunt filters	14
		1.4.2	Hybrid series filters	16
	1.5	Harmo	onic Extraction Methods	17
		1.5.1	Fourier transform based extraction methods	17

`

		1.5.2 Instantaneous reactive power theory	18
		1.5.3 Synchronous reference frame based extraction scheme	19
	1.6	Objectives of the Thesis	20
	1.7	Organization of the Thesis	21
2	Acti	ve Filter Control	23
	2.1	Series Compensation	24
	2.2	Operation of the Single-phase Inverter	25
	2.3	Characteristics of the LC Filter	27
	2.4	Performance of the Inverter Under Various Conditions	30
		2.4.1 Performance with sinusoidal reference and selection of lowpass	
		filter	30
		2.4.2 Performance with non-sinusoidal (distortion) reference	35
	2.5	The shunt Active Filter	42
		2.5.1 Harmonic current extraction unit	44
		2.5.2 Performance of the harmonic current extraction unit	47
	2.6	Summary	51
3	Sour	ce-end Voltage and Current Compensation Systems	52
	3.1	Types of Harmonic Sources	52
	3.2	The Passive Filters	55
	3.3	Type A Compensation System	57
		3.3.1 Model of Type A compensation system	57
		3.3.2 Analysis of Type A compensation system	60

	3.4	Perfor	mance of Type A Compensation Under Various Conditions	62
		3.4.1	Normal operations	63
		3.4.2	Performance under sag, swell and flicker conditions	70
		3.4.3	Simulation results for more complex models for Type A	75
	3.5	Туре І	3 Compensation System	77
		3.5.1	System description and analysis	77
	3.6	Perfor	mance of Type B Compensation System	80
		3.6.1	Performance under normal load conditions	81
		3.6.2	Performance in the presence of voltage flicker	87
		3.6.3	Simulation results for more complex models for Type B	89
	3.7	Summ	ary	91
4	Load	l-end V	oltage and Current Compensation System	92
	4.1	Туре (C Compensation System	93
	4.2	Simula	ation Results Type C Compensation System	98
		4.2.1	Simulation results for more complex models for Type C	106
	4.3	Type I	D Compensation System	108
	4.4	Simula	ation Results for Type D Compensation System	111
		4.4.1	Simulation results for more complex models for Type D	117
	4.5	Summ	ary	119
5	Rati	ngs of ti	he Active Filters in the Hybrid Compensators	120
	5.1	Rating	of Type 1 Hybrid Series Filter	121
	5.2	Rating	of type 2 Hybrid Series Filter	127
5	4.5 Rati	4.4.1 Summ ngs of th	Simulation results for more complex models for Type D ary he Active Filters in the Hybrid Compensators	

v

	5.3	Rating of type 3 Hybrid Shunt Filter	128
	5.4	Rating of type 4 Hybrid Shunt Filter	133
	5.5	Performance Comparison of the Compensation Systems	137
	5.6	Summary	141
6	Conc	clusion and Scope for future work	143
	6.1	Suggestions for Future Work	146
Re	ferenc	ees	148
A	Sim	ulation Models	152
	A.1	Active Filter Inverter	153
	A.2	Supply and Passive Filters	154
	A.3	Load.	155
	A.4	Harmonic Current Extraction	156
	A.5	Distortion Voltage Extraction	157
	A.6	Compensation Systems	157
B	Mat	lab Programs	161
	B.1	Basic fft Function Routine called by the Programs	161
	B.2	The Main Analysis and Plot Program	162
	B.3	Ratings Evaluation Programs	167
		B.3.1 Type 1 rating	167
		B.3.2 Type 3 rating.	168
		B.3.3 Type 4 rating.	169

List of Figures

1.1	Voltage sag and voltage swell	4
1.2	Commutation notches	5
1.3	Voltage flicker	5
1.4	Harmonic compensation using the shunt passive filter	8
1.5	Harmonic compensation using the series passive filter	9
1.6	General system configuration of the series active filter	11
1.7	General system configuration of the shunt active filter	12
1.8	The unified Power Quality Conditioner (UPQC) [14]	14
1.9	The hybrid shunt filter	15
1.10	The hybrid series filter	17
1.11	Fourier transform based extraction	18
1.12	Harmonic current extraction based on the IRP theory	19
1.13	Synchronous reference frame extraction method	20
2.1	Control strategy of the active filter in harmonics and distortion	
	compensation	26
2.2	Inverter interfaced with the power system	28
2.3	The inverter reference voltage and frequency spectrum	31
2.4	The inverter output voltage and frequency spectrum	31
2.5	Variation of THD with Capacitance	33

2.6	Variation of the THD with normalized Frequency	34
2.7	Distortion reference and its harmonic spectrum	37
2.8	The generated distortion voltage at the active filter terminals	37
2.9	Distortion reference voltage with some fundamental components	38
2.10	Distortion output voltage with some fundamental components	38
2.11	Distortion reference, output and error voltage	39
2.12	Different distortion reference (with different harmonic contents), output and	40
	error voltage with different components	
2.13	Variation of magnitude error as a function of the harmonic order	41
2.14	The shunt active filter in parallel hybrid topology	42
2.15	Harmonic current extraction unit	45
2.16	Shift in frequency in d-q transformation	46
2.17	Load current; fundamental current; and extracted harmonics	48
2.18	Frequency spectra of Load; fundamental and harmonics	49
2.19	Nonlinear load current and its extracted harmonic content	50
2.20	Different nonlinear load current and its extracted harmonic content	50
3.1	Voltage source non-linear load (VSNL).	54
3.2	Current source non-linear load (CSNL).	54
3.3	Impedance characteristics of the series passive filter	56
3.4	Impedance characteristics of the shunt passive filters	56
3.5	A single-phase representation of Type A compensation system	58
3.6	Single-phase circuit model	59

3.7	VSNL input current; CSNL input current; Harmonic spectrum of VSNL	
	current; and Harmonic spectrum of CSNL current	64
3.8	Total load current; Source current; Harmonic spectrum of the total load	
	current and Harmonic spectrum of the source current	65
3.9	Supply voltage; Load voltage; Harmonic spectrum of the supply voltage	
	and Harmonic spectrum of the load voltage	68
3.10	Active filter outputs: Shunt active filter compensating currents and Series	
	active filter output voltage.	69
3.11	Voltage sag and swell compensation	71
3.12	Supply, load and compensating voltage	72
3.13	Supply, load and compensating voltage	72
3.14	Voltage sag and swell compensation for higher sag and swell value	73
3.15	Voltage flicker compensation	74
3.16	Load currents with more complex models for type A	75
3.17	Currents and Voltages with more complex models for type A	76
3.18	Type B Compensation System Configuration	76
3.19	Single-phase equivalent model of Type B Compensation System	77
3.20	Combined load current and source current	79
3.21	Harmonic spectrum of load and source currents	80
3.22	VSNL and CSNL currents	81
3.23	Harmonic spectrum of VSNL and CSNL currents	81
3.24	Supply voltage waveform and Load voltage waveform	82

3.25	Spectrum of supply voltage and Spectrum of load voltage	82
3.26	Injected harmonics by the shunt active filter and compensating voltage	
	by the series compensator	83
3.27	Supply voltage with flicker; Compensated load end voltage and Series	
	active compensator output voltage	86
3.28	Nonlinear load currents with more complex models for type B	89
3.29	Currents and Voltages with more complex models for type B	90
4.1	Type C Compensation system	94
4.2	Single-phase equivalent circuit	95
4.3	Load current and Source currents	95
4.4	Harmonic spectrum of load current and source current	99
4.5	VSNL current and CSNL current	100
4.6	Harmonic spectrum of VSNL Current CSNL Current	100
4.7	Supply voltage and Load voltage	101
4.8	Harmonic spectrum of Supply voltage and Load voltage	101
4.9	Distorted supply voltage; Compensated load voltage; Spectrum of supply	
	voltage and Spectrum of load voltage	102
4.10	Compensating currents generated by the shunt active filter and	
	compensating voltage generated by the series active filter	103
4.11	Response to voltage fluctuation and flicker	104
4.12	Load and source currents for more complex models for Type D compensa-	
	tion system	107

4.13	Source and load voltage for more complex models for Type C	108
4.14	Type D Compensation System	109
4.15	Single phase equivalent model of system	110
4.16	Combined load current; source current; Harmonic spectrum of the load -	
	Current and Harmonic spectrum of the source current	112
4.17	VSNL current; CSNL current; Harmonic spectrum of the VSNL current	
	and harmonic spectrum of the CSNL current	113
4.18	Supply voltage; Load voltage; Harmonic spectrum of the supply voltage	
	and Harmonic spectrum of the load voltage	114
4.19	Response to voltage fluctuation and flicker	116
4.20	Nonlinear load currents for more complex models for Type D compensation	
	system	117
4.21	Currents and voltages for more complex models for Type D	118
5.1	Type 1 Hybrid series filter.	122
5.2	Variation of the rating of the series active compensator with total harmonic	
	distortion of the load current for various sags s and for a fixed load of 1 per	
	umt	125
5.3	Unit Variation of the Series active compensator rating with the load rating for	125
5.3	Unit Variation of the Series active compensator rating with the load rating for a fixed THD of 50% and for various sags s .	125 126
5.3 5.4	 Variation of the Series active compensator rating with the load rating for a fixed THD of 50% and for various sags s. Type 2 Hybrid series filter 	125 126 127
5.35.45.5	 Unit Variation of the Series active compensator rating with the load rating for a fixed THD of 50% and for various sags s. Type 2 Hybrid series filter Type 3 hybrid shunt filter 	125 126 127 129

.

	Load.	131
5.7	Variation of the shunt active filter rating with load rating having a current	
	THD of 50%.	132
5.8	Type 4 hybrid shunt filter	133
5.9	Increase of shunt active filter rating with load current THD	135
5.10	Variation of the shunt active filter rating with load rating for a fixed load	
	Current harmonic distortion of 50%.	136
5.11	Harmonic compensation in Compensation Systems A-D	138
5.12	Load voltage distortion compensation in Compensations Systems A-D	139
5.13	Supply voltage sag compensation in Compensations Systems A-D	140
A.1	Model of the active filter inverter control (Active filter subsystem).	153
A.2	Three-phase supply (voltage sources subsystem)	154
A.3	The series passive filter subsystem)	154
A.4	The shunt passive filter subsystem	154
A.5	The voltage source non-linear load (VSNL) subsystem	155
A.6	The current source non-linear load (CSNL) subsystem	155
A.7	Harmonic current extraction unit	156
A.8	abc-to-dq transformation block – subsystem of the harmonic current	
	Extraction Unit.	156
A.9	dq-to-abc transformation block - subsystem of the harmonic current	
	extraction Unit	156
A.10	Distortion voltage extraction subsystem	157

A.11	Type A Compensation System	158
A.12	Type B Compensation System	158
A.13	Type C Compensation System	159
A.14	Type D Compensation System	159
A.15	Separately excited DC motor load	160
A.16	PWM based Induction motor drive	160

List of Tables

3.1	Passive filter parameters	63
3.2	Source and load total harmonic distortion for Type A	66
3.3	Source and load Total harmonic distortion for type B	86
4.1	Source and load total harmonic distortion for Type C	105
4.2	Source and load total harmonic distortion for Type D	115

.

Chapter 1

Introduction and Literature Review

Issues associated with power quality have become important consideration for electricity companies, utilities and the end users of electrical power. Stringent demands are now being placed on the quality of the power being provided by the power companies and utilities. This imposes an obligation on the power providers who in turn place requirements on the consumers as regards power quality. Power quality is a term which refers to the degree to which the power received at a consumer terminals is distorted, that is, it refers to the level of harmonics and distortion present in the voltage at the point of common coupling, (PCC). It is an umbrella concept for different types of power system disturbance. The growing concern is due to the fact that load equipment are becoming more sensitive to power quality variations. Many new load devices now contain microprocessor-based control and power electronic devices that are sensitive to many types of disturbances. High power quality is generally desirable as it ensures normal operation of loads.

On the other hand, low power quality may results in low performance or even failure of some critical equipment such as automated systems and computers causing system down-time and associated increase in costs. Also, the need to improve efficiency of loads has resulted in the increasing use of power electronic based adjustable speed drives. Increased efficiency in the load equipment helps defer large investments in new lines, transformers, generators and substations i.e. it results in a better use of existing facilities.

Harmonics generally refer to sinusoidal voltages and currents in the system which are integer multiples (usually odd integers) of the frequency at which the supply system is designed to operate i.e. the fundamental frequency. Distorted waveforms can be decomposed into a sum of the fundamental frequency and the harmonics. In single-phase systems the dominant harmonics are the 3rd, 5th and 7th. In general three-phase systems, the dominant harmonics are the 5th, 7th and 11th due to cancellation of the 3rd and other triplens as a result of the 120° shift between the phases. Harmonics are typically caused by the use of non-linear loads such as switch mode power converters, power electronics operated adjustable speed drives, fluorescent lamps, arc furnaces, welding equipment and other non-linear loads used in both domestic and industrial applications. Although the harmonic currents drawn by a single load may be small, large numbers of small loads often concentrated in a small area e.g. an office building may have numerous fluorescent lamps, computer equipment, copiers and other pieces of equipment necessary in a modern office. A factory may have several small rated adjustable speed drive or a few large ones, welding equipment or even an electric furnace. The harmonic currents produced individually in these situations may combine, resulting in very high levels of current and

voltage distortion at the point of common coupling. The presence of harmonics in the system results in several effects including increased heating losses in transformers, motors and lines, low power factor, torque pulsation in motors and poor utilization of distribution wiring and plant.

The causes of power quality deterioration include voltage sag and swell. These are short duration decrease or increase in the voltage magnitude of typically between 3 and 30 cycles. Sags or swells of longer duration are considered under voltages and over voltages respectively. Figure 1.1 illustrates a voltage sag and swell. Voltage sags (dips) are mainly caused by phenomena resulting in high currents which in turn cause a voltage drop across the network impedance with a magnitude which decreases in proportion to the electrical distance of the observation point from the source of the disturbance in accordance to circuit laws. Such phenomena may include the sudden switching on and off of large loads in the system as well as faults on the lines.

Voltage notching is a periodic voltage disturbance caused by the normal operation of power electronic devices when current is commutated from one phase to another. Since voltage notching is periodic and occurs continuously, it can be characterized through the harmonic spectrum of the affected voltage. Figure 1.2 illustrates a typical voltage notch caused by current commutation in diode and thyristor converters. During the period when notches occur, there is a momentary short circuit between two phases resulting in close to zero voltage as permitted by the system impedances.

3



Fig 1.1: Voltage sag and voltage swell





Fig 1.3: Voltage flicker

Voltage flicker, another power quality problem results from the low frequency amplitude modulation of the system voltage. The modulation is usually less than 25Hz. Flicker is caused by large rapidly fluctuating loads such as arc furnaces and electric welding equipment especially during the phase when the arc is being struck. Figure 1.3 illustrates a voltage flicker.

The effect of such disturbances on the terminals of the load is influenced by the distance to the origin of the disturbance, the level of interconnection and the impedance of the transmission links. Terminal load voltages are also affected by switching operations such as connection and disconnection of large loads, power factor correction devices and the operation of static var compensators. In order to counter the adverse effects of these disturbances on the terminals of the load, engineers and researchers have come up with various ingenious ways to mitigate the power quality problem. In the next section, various solutions that have been proposed in the literature will be reviewed. All the methods aim to achieve constant sinusoidal voltage and currents devoid of harmonics, constant frequency, symmetrical three-phase AC power and reliability in the supply, independent of load variations

1.1 Literature Review

In order to mitigate the power quality problem, various power-conditioning devices have been employed to reduce the effects of load current harmonics, voltage sags and distortion. Most harmonic sources have been represented as current sources [1], hence parallel or shunt passive filters have been traditionally used to mitigate nonlinear load harmonics. In recent times, active filters have attracted a great deal of attention and have been researched intensively for the past 25-30 years [2,3]. They are used to compensate for harmonics and reactive power as well as for balancing unbalanced loads [4,5] and as dynamic voltage restorers [3]. Active filters are used alone or in combination with other devices depending on requirements and control methods. This thesis deals with the application of active filters in hybrid topologies.

Devices used for power quality compensation can be classified as passive, active and hybrid compensators. An overview of each of the compensator type is given below.

1.2 Passive Compensators

Passive compensators or filters are combinations of inductors and capacitors connected in series or parallel to present high or low impedance to the current or voltage harmonics. They are used as shunt passive filters or series passive filters.

1.2.1 Shunt passive filters

Shunt passive filters are series resonant circuits connected in parallel to harmonic current producing nonlinear loads. Due to their low cost and simplicity, they have traditionally been used to absorb the harmonics generated by large loads [6]. At the tuned frequencies, a shunt passive filter has lower impedance than the impedance of the supply. In principle, the filtering characteristics of the shunt passive filter are determined by the impedance ratio of the source and passive filter [6].

Figure 1.4 shows a single-phase model of a harmonic producing load and passive filter. The shunt passive filter has the following shortcomings:

- The source impedance influences the performance of the shunt passive filter and since the source impedance may not be easily determined, the performance of the shunt passive filter becomes difficult to predict.
- The filter may create a series or parallel resonance with the source impedance resulting in the amplification of the harmonics with negative consequences.
- In practice, due to possible resonance, the shunt passive filters are usually off-tuned with respect to the dominant frequencies which defeats their very purpose of installation [7]



Fig 1.4: Harmonic compensation using the Shunt Passive Filter

1.2.2 Series passive filters

Series passive filters are parallel resonant circuits connected in series with the harmonic causing nonlinear loads. They are low-cost, simple to implement and have been used to limit harmonics caused by large loads [9]. The main drawback in the use of the series passive filters is the voltage drop that occurs at fundamental frequency due to the difficulty in designing sharply tuned filters.

Series passive filters are not as widely used for harmonic compensation as the shunt passive filters. However, it has been proposed that when the load is modeled as a harmonic voltage source instead of a harmonic current source, the series passive filters gives better performance [1,8,9]. Figure 1.5 shows a model of a series passive filter for compensating harmonic voltage-source type nonlinear load.



Fig 1.5: Harmonic compensation using the Series Passive Filter

1.3 Active Compensation Devices

To overcome the limitation of passive filters, active filters were developed to provide better harmonic and voltage distortion control. Active filters may also be used for power factor control in static var compensators. Active compensators also known as active filters or active power line conditioners are single-phase or three-phase voltage source inverters used to generate the compensating voltage or current that is injected into the line. They may be connected in series with the line (series active filters) or in parallel with the load (shunt active filters).

1.3.1 Series active filters

The series compensator is used to eliminate voltage harmonics, compensate for voltage dips and swells in dynamic voltage restoration and to generally regulate line voltages [10]. It is also used to damp out harmonic propagation caused by resonance with line impedance and shunt passive filters [11]. Figure 1.6 is a block diagram of the series active compensator and controller. The series active filter does not directly compensate for current harmonics but is can be controlled to act as high impedance to the current harmonics [6]. A drawback to the series active compensator is its inability to directly compensate for current harmonics, suppress neutral currents and balance the load current.



Fig 1.6: General system configuration of the series active filter

1.3.2 Shunt active filter

The shunt active filter is primarily used to compensate for current harmonics, it operates by actively generating the harmonic currents equal to those in the load by means of a switch mode power electronic inverter. The load current harmonics are measured and extracted by the control circuits and then used to regulate the inverter of the active filter. The performance of the active filter is hence independent of the utility system impedance. Figure 1.7 shows the schematic of a shunt active filter. The shunt filter can also be used as a static var generator in power system network for stabilizing and improving the voltage profile and for correcting for power factor [12, 13].



Fig 1.7: General system configuration of the shunt active filter

The shunt active filter has the following drawbacks.

- The VA rating of the power electronic inverter can be quite high since the device is connected in parallel to the load. This is due to the fact that the converter must with-stand the line frequency utility voltage and supply harmonic current.
- The inverter output low-pass filter provides attenuation of the inverter switching harmonics. They are also highly susceptible to utility line interaction and may require additional active or passive damping.
- It does not compensate for the harmonic in the load voltage.

1.3.3 Combined series and shunt active filters

This combination also known as the unified power quality conditioner (UPQC) [14, 15] or universal active power line conditioner [16] consists of the series and shunt active filter. Figure 1.8 is the schematic of the UPQC. The UPQC can provide fast and simultaneous control of the system terminal voltage and active and reactive power flow. The system is considered as an ideal active filtering system, which eliminates voltage and current harmonics and is capable of providing compensation to sensitive loads such as computers and medical equipment.

The series filter is controlled as a voltage source; hence it is used for voltage compensation while the shunt filter compensates for harmonic currents. Hence it has the advantages of both the series and shunt filter. The series filter may be used to

- Provide harmonic isolation i.e. suppress harmonic current through the line.
- Control active and reactive power flow by controlling the phase and magnitude of the injected voltage with respect to the line current.
- Eliminate voltage harmonics including negative and zero sequence components at the fundamental frequency.
- Compensate for the reactive power demand of the load.
- Cancel out line current harmonics.

The major limitation of the UPQC is its high cost and control complexity.



Fig 1.8: The unified Power Quality Conditioner (UPQC) [14]

1.4 Hybrid Filters

Hybrid filters combine the advantages of passive and active filters. They are cost effective solutions to controlling voltage variations and distortions as well as suppressing harmonics. Several combinations of passive and active filters exist in the literature. Peng [1] has presented 14 hybrid filter topologies for use in solving the power quality problem. A few of the more commonly used hybrid compensation topologies are discussed below.

1.4.1 Hybrid shunt filters

This consists of a series combination of an active and passive filter in parallel with the load. This is an attempt to reduce the high VA rating of the shunt active filter without

compromising its functions [1, 17], enabling practical implementation of active harmonic current filters.

Figure 1.9 shows the schematic of a shunt hybrid filter. The VA rating is reduced by the fact that the system is designed such that the fundamental voltage is dropped across the passive filter. In practice, a small fundamental voltage appears across the active filter as a result of the finite leakage impedance of the matching transformer. Due to its high rating at fundamental frequency, the var compensating ability of the hybrid filter is diminished. However if var compensation is not an issue as in harmonic compensation, it is an effective device for the dominant harmonic currents. Its major drawback is that the passive filter may attenuate other frequencies generated by the active filters hence reducing the range of harmonics that can be covered.



Fig 1.9: The hybrid shunt filter
1.4.2 Hybrid series filters

The series hybrid compensator is a series combination of a series passive filter and a series active filter [1,18]. Figure 1.10 shows the schematic of the series hybrid filter. The series filter operates by injecting a compensating voltage in the line in opposite phase to cancel out any voltage distortion. Depending on the control method adopted, the series filter can be used for

- Harmonic isolation: in this mode, the source currents are extracted and used as a reference for the PWM inverter used in the active compensator. The output voltage from the compensator is injected into the line in phase with the line current harmonics resulting in simulated line impedance in series with the source [14,15]. This active impedance does not significantly affect the fundamental, but serves to constrain the load harmonics into the passive filter. This results in improved performance of the passive filter since the need for precise tuning is reduced. The active filter also provides damping to any resonant current oscillations, which may occur between the passive filter and the supply voltage internal impedance.
- Voltage compensation: if line voltage conditioning is required the series active filter can be used to eliminate voltage sags, swells, flicker, commutation notches, voltage harmonics and other voltage disturbances.

The actual use of the series compensator depends on the objective, the harmonic or distortion extraction method and the inverter control scheme adopted.



Fig 1.10: The hybrid series filter

1.5 Harmonic Extraction Methods

Several methods exist in the literature for the extraction of the harmonics and distortion in the source and load currents and voltages. A review of some of the methods is provided below.

1.5.1 Fourier transform based extraction methods

This extraction method is based on the Fourier transform based analysis of the load or source currents and voltage. Using the method, the distorted voltage or current signals is separated into its fundamental and harmonic components. The harmonic components are then used as the reference for the active filter inverter to generate the compensating voltages or currents [21, 22]. However the drawback of this method is that the online application of the Fourier transform is cumbersome and results in an unacceptable delay, necessitating the inclusion of predictive algorithms in the control scheme for loads with deterministic harmonics. It is difficult to use for loads that are unpredictable. Figure 1.11 shows a block diagram of the method.



Fig 1.11: Fourier transform based extraction

1.5.2 Instantaneous reactive power theory

Proposed in 1984 by Akagi, et al [19], the IRP theory also known as the p-q theory is based on instantaneous voltages and currents in three-phase systems, with or without a neutral wire. The harmonic components can be estimated by determining the contributions of the harmonics to p and q, where p and q are the active and reactive power flowing in the line. The estimation is done by computing the instantaneous active and reactive powers and then extracting the harmonic active and reactive powers by the use of a highpass filter. The major drawback for this scheme is that it considers only balanced conditions without zero sequence components. In the presence of unbalance and zero sequence components, the effectiveness of the scheme is reduced. Figure 1.12 is a block diagram of the method.



Fig 1.12: Harmonic current extraction based on the IRP theory.

1.5.3 Synchronous reference frame based extraction scheme

In this scheme, the voltage and current signals are transformed by the use of Park's transformation into the rotating reference frame, where the fundamental quantities become dc and all other frequencies are translated downwards in the frequency axis [7]. The dc value in the rotating reference frame is then removed by passing the signal through a high-pass filter. The filtered signal is then transformed to the stationary abc reference frame by applying the inverse Park's transformation. Its drawbacks include the computation involved, its inherent requirement of a three-phase signal, which makes it unsuitable for use in single-phase systems and its non-compensation for reactive power. Besides, the effectiveness of the extraction scheme is severely reduced in the presence of voltage unbalance, making it difficult to achieve independent voltage compensation and voltage balancing. Figure 1.13 is a block diagram of the extraction procedure. A method of overcoming the voltage unbalance limitation was developed by Karthik [27]. The proposed method involves balancing the phases independently by the use of phase shifters before applying the transformation.



Fig 1.13: Synchronous reference frame extraction method.

1.6 Objectives of the Thesis

Hybrid filters in general are a compromise between the simplicity and robustness of passive filters and the performance and cost of active filters. Different hybrid filtering topologies exist and have been studied. To the best of the author's knowledge, no thorough investigations of the different topologies have been carried out with the aim of determining which topologies are best suited for certain load and source conditions. Also, in previous works, the load has always been modeled as harmonic current sources. However, not all loads can be modeled as such. Furthermore, the same extraction scheme is used in the existing compensators to extract both harmonic current and voltage. This approach leads to a large and complex extraction and control circuitry. The aim of this thesis is to present an extraction and control scheme that decouples the current and voltage compensation process. The proposed control scheme is applied to four different hybrid-filtering topologies with the objective of

- Investigating the performance of the four hybrid compensation topologies under various conditions of the source and load to determine the most appropriate compensation method.
- Investigations of the performance of the compensation topologies when the load is hybrid consisting of loads that are modeled as harmonic current sources and loads that are modeled as harmonic voltage sources.
- Determining rating of each of the compensation system.

1.7 Organization of the Thesis

Chapter one introduces the power quality problem. Current power quality issues are discussed and the problems stated. The voltage sag, swell, flicker and harmonics are defined and their causes and effects explained. Various methods in use in mitigating the power quality problems are identified and presented in a review of existing literature; various control schemes and topologies are identified and described highlighting their advantages and disadvantages. The objectives of the thesis are presented in this chapter.

Chapter 2 introduces the active filter control scheme used in this thesis. The control scheme is described and its advantages for active filter application are discussed. The performance of the scheme in the generation of a replica of the sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal distortion reference voltage is demonstrated. Its limitation is also discussed. The harmonic current extraction scheme is also discussed and its use in the extraction of current harmonics is presented.

In chapter 3, two of the hybrid compensation systems investigated in this thesis are presented. A detailed description, analysis and modeling is carried out to determine the compensation characteristics of the systems. Simulation results are presented to validate their functionality.

Chapter 4 presents the other two hybrid compensation systems. Their description, modeling and analysis are carried out. Also, their performance in the compensation of harmonic currents and voltage distortion and their limitations is demonstrated by simulation. The results are presented in this chapter.

In chapter 5, the ratings of the hybrid filters that make up the four hybrid compensation systems are determined analytically. A quantitative comparison of the four hybrid compensation systems is carried out based on several identified factors.

Finally, chapter 6 summarizes the thesis highlighting the contribution of the research and provides suggestions for further work.

22

Chapter 2

Active Filter Control

Voltage source inverters play a very important role in the implementation of active filtering schemes. They are used in active filtering schemes to provide compensating voltage in the line to condition the line to desirable voltage and current quality levels. The quality and performance of the active power filter depends on three considerations [13].

- The design of the power inverter
- The modulation and control method used to implement the compensation scheme
- The method used to determine the level of compensation.

Active filters are used in the series and shunt configuration i.e. the series active filter and the shunt active filter. In this chapter, the performance of the series active filter and the shunt active filters based on their ability to generate identical replica of the distortion voltage reference and extracted harmonic currents are investigated.

The generation of the harmonic currents and the distortion voltage is dependent on vari-

ous conditions

- The effectiveness of the method of extracting the harmonic current and the distortion voltage to be used as a reference for the voltage source inverter
- The performance of the inverter in generating the reference waveform considering that the reference waveform may be highly non-sinusoidal as a result of the presence of various signals of different magnitudes, phases and frequencies.

2.1 Series Compensation

In series active compensation schemes, the inverter in the series active filter (also referred to as the series active compensator or conditioner) is coupled to a line in series with the load through a matching transformer. The inverter is then used to generate and inject the necessary voltage needed for compensation of voltage harmonics, voltage sags and swell, voltage flicker and other voltage disturbances that distort the desired sinusoidal waveform at the point of common coupling.

In order to ensure that the compensation is effective, it is important that the generated voltage be a replica of the measured distortion voltage as much as possible. The response of the inverter should also be fast so that it is able to respond to rapidly changing distortion levels. The inverter control method used in the series active filter scheme determines the inverter performance in terms of stable operation, good dynamic response and minimal deviation of the generated output voltage from the reference distortion voltage.

Several inverter control schemes exist in the literature such as hysterisis control [23], dead-beat control [24], sliding mode control [25] and multiple loop control [26]. In this work, the suitability of the multiple loop control method proposed by Abdel-Rahim and Quaicoe will be examined for series active filter application. The latter scheme has been shown to have good dynamic response, good stability and good performance with generating sinusoidal references for UPS application.

2.2 Operation of the Single-Phase Inverter

Figure 2.1 shows the scheme proposed by Abdel-Rahim and Quaicoe [26]. It consists of a voltage source single-phase half-bridge inverter, a second order filter R_f , L_f and C_f , an inner current feedback loop and an outer voltage feedback loop. Proportional controllers are used in the feed-forward path of the inner current loop to increase the loop bandwidth. The reference voltage V_{dis} is the voltage distortion i.e. the deviation of the actual voltage from the desired one. The series active filter operates to generate the distortion voltage and then to inject the generated voltage in opposite phase so as to cancel the distortion in the actual voltage. The generated voltage is fed back and compared with its reference and the resulting error signal is passed through a proportional controller k_v , the output of the controller is then summed with the error signal obtained from comparing the capacitor current with its reference. The resulting signal is passed through a proportional current controller is compared with a fixed switching frequency triangular waveform in a standard sinusoidal

pulse width modulation (PWM). The pulse width modulated signals are then used to control the inverter switches after they have been appropriately processed by the gate-drive circuits.



Fig 2.1: Control strategy of the active filter in harmonic and distortion compensation. [26]

The inverter control system adopted for this work offers many advantages for active filter operation. The current control loop provides an inherent peak current limit in the capacitor of the output filter which serves to limit the high current surges at the capacitor output especially during system start up. Also, since the capacitor current represents the rate of change of inverter output voltage, the control scheme is capable of predicting and correcting near future variation in the output voltage, thus providing fast dynamic response of the overall system. The voltage control loop regulates the output voltage and ensures that the inverter output closely follows its reference.

2.3 Characteristics of the LC filter

Figure 2.2 shows the circuit model of the single-phase inverter with a second order filter connected to the power system through a coupling transformer.

In the figure

 V_{in} represents the pulse width modulated output voltage obtained from the

inverter switches.

 R_f is the resistance of the filter inductor

 L_f is the filter inductance

 C_f is the filter capacitance

 R_i is the equivalent resistance of the coupling transformer and lines

 $L_{\rm t}$ is the equivalent inductance of the coupling transformer and lines

 $V_s \sin(wt + \phi)$ is the equivalent instantaneous voltage of the power system at the point of coupling.

The transfer characteristics can be expressed as

$$\frac{V_c}{V_{in}} = \frac{(R_t + jX_{ll})/(-jX_{Cf})}{(R_t + jX_{ll})/(-jX_{Cf}) + R_f + jX_{lf}}$$
(2.1)



Fig 2.2: Inverter lowpass filter and transformer.

$$\frac{V_{c}}{V_{in}} = \frac{R_{i} + jX_{ii}}{R_{i}\left(1 - \frac{X_{ij}}{X_{cf}}\right) + R_{f}\left(1 - \frac{X_{ij}}{X_{cf}}\right) + j\left[X_{ij} + \frac{R_{f}R_{i}}{X_{cf}} + X_{ii}\left(1 - \frac{X_{ij}}{X_{cf}}\right)\right]}$$
(2.2)

The reactance of the inductor and capacitor are functions of the harmonic order n. Equation 2.2 can then be written as

$$\frac{V_{c}}{V_{in}} = \frac{R_{i} + jnX_{Li}}{R_{i} \left(1 - \frac{n^{2}X_{Lf}}{X_{Cf}}\right) + R_{f} \left(1 - \frac{n^{2}X_{Lf}}{X_{Cf}}\right) + jn \left[X_{Lf} + \frac{R_{f}R_{i}}{X_{cf}} + X_{Li} \left(1 - \frac{n^{2}X_{Lf}}{X_{Cf}}\right)\right]}$$
(2.3)

Assuming that the resistance of the filter inductor and that of the coupling transformer and lines are negligibly small, (2.3) then reduces to

$$\frac{V_{c}}{V_{in}} = \frac{X_{Li}}{\left[X_{Lf} + X_{Li}\left(1 - \frac{n^{2}X_{Lf}}{X_{Cf}}\right)\right]}$$
(2.4)

$$\frac{V_c}{V_{in}} = \frac{X_{Li}}{\left[X_{Lf} + X_{Li}\left(1 - \frac{n^2 w^2}{w_0^2}\right)\right]}$$
(2.5)

where
$$\frac{X_{IJ}}{X_{Cf}} = \left(\frac{w}{w_0}\right)^2$$
 (2.6)

and $w_0 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{L_f C_f}}$ (2.7)

The inverter is to be used to generate the distortion voltage which may have sinusoids of various magnitudes, frequencies and phases, including the fundamental in the events of voltage sags, swell and flicker compensation. Hence the selection of the inverter lowpass filter is based on the following criteria:

- The degree of correlation between the reference voltage distortion and the generated output distortion.
- The rating of the filter inductor and capacitor

The size of the lowpass filter is important in the design considerations; an LC filter with small size and low ratings is a measure of the efficiency of the active filter system as well as its cost.

2.4 Performance of the Inverter Under Various Conditions

The circuit of Fig 2.1 was implemented in the Simulink toolbox of Matlab under various conditions. The objective was to ensure that the inverter will generate a replica of the reference voltage i.e. the distortion voltage. Proper selection of the inverter output filter is essential in order to achieve this objective. The investigation was carried out under sinusoidal reference voltage as well as distorted reference voltages. The carrier frequency was chosen to be 5 kHz to minimize switching losses in the implementation. Inverter switching harmonics will occur at integer multiples of the switching frequency. The proper selection of the inverter LC lowpass filter will ensures that such high frequency harmonics do not affect the generated voltage.

2.4.1 Performance with sinusoidal reference and selection of lowpass filter

In the case when the reference voltage V_{dis} is sinusoidal as in during a voltage sag or swell, the inverter implemented as an active filter will be required to generate a sinusoidal voltage to correct for the deviation from the set reference. Figures 2.3 and 2.4 show the generated output waveform with a sinusoidal reference.



Fig 2.4: (a) The inverter output voltage, (b) the frequency spectrum

Total harmonic distortion consideration is used in selecting the lowpass filter components for sinusoidal reference input. The selected filter parameters are then used to examine the effects on non-sinusoidal voltage generation.

Figure 2.5 shows the plot of the variation of total harmonic distortion with increasing filter capacitance and a fixed inductance. The figure shows that the total harmonic distortion in the generated output voltage is a function of the lowpass filter values chosen.

For a fixed value of filter capacitor, the total harmonic distortion in the inverter output voltage drops with increasing inductance. Since in practical applications, the cost of the inductor is more critical than that of the capacitor, it is therefore necessary to keep the inductance to a minimum for a desired total harmonic distortion and minimum cost. Figure 2.6 shows the total harmonic distortion as a function of the normalized frequency $\frac{f_r}{f_s}$ for various values of filter inductance, where f_r is the resonance frequency of the LC

filter, and f_s is the fixed switching frequency.

$$f_r = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{LC}} \tag{2.8}$$

It is observed from Fig 2.5 that the total harmonic distortion exhibits linear characteristics with increasing normalized frequency until $\frac{f_r}{f_s} = 0.12$, from which point the characteris-

tics become nonlinear.



Fig 2.5: Variation of THD with Capacitance



Fig 2.6: Variation of the THD with Normalized Frequency

Therefore for linear and predictable behavior of the inverter, it is necessary to select the filter parameters values such that $\frac{f_r}{f_s} \le 0.12$. For the remainder of this thesis, the choice

of $\frac{f_r}{f_s} = 0.1$ is used. This value is chosen to limit the switching frequency and hence the switching loss in the inverter switches since lower values of the frequency ratio implies higher switching frequency. The choice of $\frac{f_r}{f_s} = 0.1$ ensures that the total harmonic distortion is below 5%. From Fig 2.5 and 2.6, L=1mH and C=80 μ F are selected for optimum performance.

2.4.2 Performance with non-sinusoidal (distortion) reference

It has been demonstrated in the previous section that the series active filter of Fig 2.1 can reliably generate sinusoidal references with an acceptable THD. The use of the series active filter in voltage compensation places an additional requirement on its performance since voltage distortions of a non-sinusoidal nature can occur due to nonlinear loads. Figure 2.7 shows the distortion reference voltage and its harmonic spectrum. The harmonic spectrum shows that the distortion voltage consists of a combination of the 5th, 7th, 11th, 13th, 17th 19th and the 23rd harmonics in varying proportions. Fig 2.8 shows the generated output voltage. It is observed from a comparison of figures 2.7 and 2.8 that all the frequency components in the reference are present in the generated output voltage waveform.

For the case when the distortion voltage is a combination of higher frequency harmonics and a fundamental voltage, which can occur in the event of voltage sag or swell and other distortions resulting from the operations of non linear loads, the active filter must then compensate for the deviation of the voltage from the desired value by injecting out of phase, the generated distortion voltage to cancel out the distortion. Figure 2.9 shows a distorted reference voltage, which is a combination of a fundamental component and higher frequency harmonics. The generated output voltage is shown in Fig 2.10. It is observed from Fig 2.10 that the frequency contents present in the reference signal is also contained in the inverter output voltage. This is an essential requirement for active compensation. The error in the generation of the voltages is shown in Fig 2.11, 2.12 and 2.13 where it is shown that the error in the generation of a signal increases with the frequency and is less than 4% up to the 45th harmonic.







Fig 2.8: The generated distortion voltage at the active filter terminals.



Fig 2.9: Distortion reference voltage with some fundamental components.



Fig 2.10: Distortion output voltage with some fundamental components.



Fig 2.11: (a) Distortion reference, (b) output and (c) error voltage



Fig 2.12: (a) Different distortion reference (with different harmonic contents) (b) output and (c) error voltage



Fig 2.13: Variation of magnitude error as a function of the harmonic order.

2.5 The Shunt Active Filter

In the previous section, the capability of the single-phase inverter with multiple loop control to generate sinusoidal and non-sinusoidal waveforms has been demonstrated. Its suitability for use in the series active filter has also been shown. In this section the use of the single-phase inverter to generate the replica of the harmonic currents will be demonstrated.

The shunt active filter is connected in parallel with the load as shown in Fig 2.14. When the load is non-linear as in adjustable speed drives and arc furnaces, the harmonic currents tend to be drawn from the source resulting in negative consequences for other consumers at the point of common coupling.



Fig 2.14: The shunt active filter in parallel hybrid topology.

The shunt hybrid filter must be controlled such that it provides a path for all the harmonic currents generated by the load to flow, thereby ensuring that the source current is very near sinusoidal. By Fourier series representation, the non-linear load current is made up of an infinite sum of sinusoids i.e.

$$I_{La} = I_1 \sin(wt + \phi_1) + I_3 \sin(3wt + \phi_3) + I_5 \sin(5wt + \phi_5) + I_7 \sin(7wt + \phi_7) + \dots$$
(2.9)

The fundamental component flows from the source and the harmonic current are required to flow through the shunt filter.

For the shunt active filter to be able to generate the harmonic current demanded by the load, a feedforward harmonic extraction scheme used. It is based on the synchronously rotating reference frame controller [3]. The load currents are sensed and their harmonic currents are separated from the fundamental, which becomes dc in the synchronously rotating reference frame. A highpass filter is then used to extract the harmonic content. The inverse transformation is then applied to the filtered signal to transform the signal back to the stationary reference frame. The control scheme extracts the harmonics in the load currents and uses the shunt active filter to generate a replica of the extracted harmonics.

The advantages of feedforward schemes are fast response and fewer sensor requirements as compared to feedback control schemes. The downside is that they are highly sensitive to gain inaccuracies due to non-linearity in the filter impulse response and quantisation errors. Feedback schemes on the other hand are self-regulatory (zero steady state error) but suffer from a relatively slow dynamic response. Quick response is crucial in a power system environment in the proximity of fluctuating loads such as arc furnaces and adjustable speed drives.

2.5.1 Harmonic current extraction unit

The harmonic current extraction unit is used to generate the reference current for the single-phase inverter in the shunt active filter. The load currents I_{La} , I_{Lb} , and I_{Lc} in the three phases are sensed and transformed to stationary co-ordinates I_{Lo} , I_{La} , and $I_{L\beta}$ and then to the synchronous frame values I_{Lo} , I_{Ld} , and I_{Lq} respectively. The implementation is simplified by a two-level transformation instead of a one-level direct transformation. The transformation is accomplished by means of Park's transformations as follows.

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{Lo} \\ I_{La} \\ I_{L\beta} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{2}{3} \begin{bmatrix} 1/2 & 1/2 & 1/2 \\ 1 & -1/2 & -1/2 \\ 0 & \sqrt{3}/2 & \sqrt{3}/2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_{La} \\ I_{Lb} \\ I_{Lc} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.10)

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{Lo} \\ I_{Ld} \\ I_{Lq} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos(\theta) & \sin(\theta) \\ 0 & \sin(\theta) & -\cos(\theta) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_{Lo} \\ I_{L\alpha} \\ I_{L\beta} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.11)

The phase of the unit vectors ($\theta = \omega t$) is locked in with phase –a voltage using a phase locked loop (PLL).

Since the aim of the harmonic current extraction unit is to block out the fundamental

components in the load current from the reference currents provided to the shunt active filter a high pass filter with a cut off frequency of 1Hz is used to extract the harmonics. The output of the highpass filter is then transformed to the a-b-c frame by applying the inverse Park's transformation given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{L\alpha} \\ I_{L\alpha} \\ I_{L\beta} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \cos(\theta) & \sin(\theta) \\ 0 & \sin(\theta) & -\cos(\theta) \end{bmatrix}^{-1} \begin{bmatrix} I_{L\alpha} \\ I_{Ld} \\ I_{Lq} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.12)

$$\begin{bmatrix} I_{Lah} \\ I_{Lbh} \\ I_{Lch} \end{bmatrix} = \frac{3}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 2/3 & 2/3 & 0 \\ 2/3 & -1/3 & -1/\sqrt{3} \\ 2/3 & -1/3 & 1/\sqrt{3} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_{Lo} \\ I_{La} \\ I_{L\beta} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.13)

Where I_{Lah} , I_{Lbh} , I_{Lch} are the extracted harmonics in the load currents for the three phases. The harmonic current extraction unit is shown in Fig 2.15



Fig 2.15: Harmonic current extraction unit

The transformation rotates the reference frames in the direction of the positive sequence component. As a result there is a shift in all frequencies equivalent to the angle of rotation. This is illustrated in Fig 2.16. In figure 2.15, $f_{L,abc}$ represents all the frequency in Hz of the components present in the load currents and $f_{L,dq}$ represents the frequencies present after the d-q transformation.



Fig 2.16: Shift in frequency in d-q transformation

The figure illustrates the shift in frequencies as a result of the transformation where the fundamental components at 60Hz becomes dc and higher frequencies take on the identities of lower frequencies in a shift of 60Hz down the spectrum. Representing the nth harmonic of the load current in the stationary reference domain by $I_{Labc}(f_n t)$ and the current in the d-q domain as $I_{Ldq}(f_{n-1}t)$, the shift in frequencies is represented by

$$I_{Labc}(f_n t) \Longrightarrow I_{Lda}(f_{n-1} t), \qquad n \ge 1$$
(2.14)

Under balanced conditions the linearity of the transformation is retained i.e. one frequency component in the a-b-c frame gives rise to only one component in the d-q frame. This results in a one sided spectral shift.

2.5.2 Performance of the harmonic current extraction unit

Computer simulation of the harmonic current extraction unit was carried out to verify its performance. The load current was assumed to have a total harmonic distortion of 28%.

The waveforms of Fig 2.17 are the input current for a rectifier supplying an inductive load, extracted harmonic current and the fundamental. Figure 2.18 shows the frequency spectrum of the filtered currents. The figures show that the scheme is capable of extract-ing the harmonics and distortion in the line voltage or current for use as a reference in the inverter based active filter. The waveforms of Fig 2.19 show the input current of a rectifier supplying a capacitive load and their extracted harmonic contents. Figure 2.20 is the waveform of a hybrid load, having inductive and capacitive components.



Figure 2.17: (a) Load current; (b) fundamental current; (c) extracted harmonics



Figure 2.18: Frequency spectra of (a) Load; (b) fundamental and (c) harmonics



Fig 2.19: Nonlinear load current and extracted harmonic components.



Fig 2.20: Nonlinear load current and extracted harmonic components.

2.6 Summary

This chapter has focused on the development of the series and shunt active filter control schemes. The series active filter based on the multiple feedback loop controlled active filter was investigated and it was demonstrated that the scheme is capable of generating a replica of the sinusoidal or non-sinusoidal (distortion) reference voltage. The characteristics of the lowpass filter were also investigated and the effects of the filter capacitance and inductance on the total harmonic distortion was derived and confirmed by simulation. The use of the direct and quadrature axis transformation in the extraction of harmonics for the shunt active filter was also considered. The effectiveness of the method in the extraction of harmonics was verified by simulation.
Chapter 3

Source-end Voltage and Current Compensation Systems

In the previous chapter the control methods for the series compensation device and the shunt compensation device were presented. It was shown that the control scheme with the series active filter allowed the series active filter to generate sinusoidal and distorted voltage reference. Also the harmonic current extraction scheme was shown to be able to extract the harmonics in the load current, using the control scheme, the shunt active filter is able to generate a replica of the harmonic currents. In this chapter the application of these control methods to the series connected and parallel connected hybrid compensators is investigated.

3.1 Types of Harmonic Sources

Nonlinear loads can generally be classified into two types, namely Voltage source type nonlinear load (VSNL) and Current source type nonlinear load (CSNL). A voltage source

type nonlinear load may consist of loads like a diode or thyristor rectifier with a large smoothing capacitor at the load end. It has been shown that traditional passive filters placed in parallel with the non-linear load are not effective in compensating harmonics generated by this kind of load. In addition, the passive filters tend to enlarge the dc voltage ripples and ac peak current of the rectifier [9]. Peng *et al* [8, 9] proposed and demonstrated that a series LC filter is effective in compensating harmonics sources that behave as harmonic voltage sources.

A current source type nonlinear load may consist of a diode or thyristor converter with sufficient dc inductance such that it produces a constant direct current [9]. Figures 3.1 and 3.2 show a typical voltage source and current source nonlinear load. In practice, such clear-cut distinctions in load types may be difficult to make as some harmonic sources may exhibit the characteristics of both.

Peng [1] has presented 22 basic filter configurations suitable for compensating current source and voltage source nonlinear loads. Among them was the use of a combination of the series passive filter and the series active filter for compensating voltage source nonlinear loads and a shunt passive and the shunt active filter for compensating harmonic current source loads. It is usually not feasible to compensate for harmonics and voltage distortion on a load-to-load basis and some sources of harmonics and distortion in the system may not be readily classified as harmonic voltage sources or harmonic current sources. There is therefore the need to investigate compensation systems that mitigate the harmonics and the voltage distortion caused by combinations of both kinds of nonlinear loads or hybrid loads.

53

The compensation system is expected to establish the following conditions:

- The source current should be free of harmonics
- The voltage at the point of common coupling should have a low total harmonic distortion
- The load terminal voltage should have a low total harmonic distortion
- Harmonic levels in the system should meet harmonic standards (for example, IEEE 519)



Fig 3.1: Voltage source nonlinear load (VSNL)



Fig 3.2: Current source nonlinear load (CSNL)

3.2 The Passive Filters

The performance characteristics of the passive filters are very important in the hybrid compensation process. The passive filters used are tuned to the order of the dominant harmonics in the system and the voltages across the filter are primarily due to the current harmonics flowing through them. The magnitude of the voltage drop depends on the impedance characteristics of the filters. The passive filters used in this study are the series and the shunt passive filters. The series passive filter is a parallel resonant circuit having high impedance at the tuned frequencies, while the shunt passive filter is a series tuned resonant circuit having low impedance at the tuned frequencies. The impedance characteristics of the passive filters are shown in Figs 3.3 and 3.4.

Figure 3.3 shows that the series passive filters present a high impedance to the system at the tuned frequencies which in this case are the fifth, the seventh and the eleventh harmonic frequencies, hence serving to significantly attenuate the source currents at those frequencies. Its impedance at the fundamental frequency is minimal. This is important since high impedance at the fundamental frequency may result in appreciable voltage drop.

Figure 3.4 shows that the impedance of the shunt passive filters is very low at the fifth, seventh and eleventh harmonic frequencies and high at the fundamental frequency. The filter provides low impedance path for the harmonic currents thus preventing the harmonics from flowing through the source and preventing the fundamental frequency current from flowing into the passive filter.



Fig 3.4: Impedance characteristics of the shunt passive filter

3.3 Type A Compensation System

The single-phase diagram of Type A Compensation System is shown in Fig 3.5. It consists of an active filter in series with a parallel resonant passive filter as the hybrid series compensator and a shunt active filter in parallel with a series resonant passive filter to form the hybrid shunt compensator. The shunt passive filters are tuned to the dominant harmonics, i.e. the 5th, 7th, and 11th. The series passive filters are also tuned to the 5th, 7th, and 11th harmonics. The system is suitable for a combination of voltage source nonlinear loads and current source nonlinear loads.

3.3.1 Model of Type A compensation system

Figure 3.6 shows the single-phase equivalent circuit representation of the system. The utility voltage is modeled as an ideal voltage source V_s in series with a Thevenin impedance Z_s . The distortion in the source voltage at the point of common coupling (PCC) is V_{sd} . The current source nonlinear load (CSNL) is modeled by a harmonic current source I_{Lhi} while the voltage source non-linear load (VSNL) is modeled by its Thevenin equivalent circuit, V_{Lhv} in series with Z_{vh} . The active filters and the coupling transformer are modeled as controlled sources. The series active filter is represented by a voltage controlled voltage source V_{AF1} , while the shunt active filter is modeled as a current controlled current source I_{AF2} . The impedance of the series passive filter Z_{sh} is in series with the shunt active filter Z_{sh} is in parallel with the shunt active

filter. Single-phase steady-state analysis is a reasonable choice since the compensation of the three-phase system is achieved via independent compensation of each phase. This way, the compensation scheme corrects for imbalance, sags, swells, and harmonic distortion on each phase.



Fig 3.5: A single-phase representation of Type A Compensation System.



Fig 3.6: Single-phase circuit model of Type A compensation system

3.3.2 Analysis of Type A Compensation System

The analysis is carried out with the aim of determining the control laws that ensure harmonic and distortion mitigation. The gain of the series active filter inverter is k_1 and is defined as the ratio of the inverter output voltage to the distortion reference signal i.e.

$$k_1 = \frac{V_{AF1}}{V_{sd}} \tag{3.1}$$

The gain of the shunt active filter is similarly defined as the ratio of the inverter generated compensating current to the reference current signal.

$$k_2 = \frac{I_{AF2}}{I_{refh}} \tag{3.2}$$

The system components are combined and controlled to realize voltage compensation and current compensation. The active filters are controlled independently. The series active filter is mainly used for voltage compensation hence it is controlled as a voltage controlled voltage source while the shunt active filter is used for current compensation hence its representation as a current controlled current source. The respective inverter gains k_1 and k_2 are unity when the generated compensating voltage or current equals the reference.

For voltage compensation, the series active compensator generates a voltage $k_1 V_{sd}$ and injects it into the line in opposite phase, hence canceling out the distortion at the PCC.

$$V_{AF1} = -k_1 V_{sd} \tag{3.3}$$

Applying superposition theorem and KCL at the passive filter terminals, the resulting voltage at the load is given as

$$V_{Ld} = \frac{V_{sd} (1 - k_1) Z_{ph}}{Z_{ph} + Z_{sh}} + \frac{I_{Lh} (Z_{sh} + Z_s)}{Z_{sh} + Z_s + Z_{ph}} Z_{ph}$$
(3.4)

where I_{Lh} is the harmonic component of the total load currents, and V_{Ld} is the distortion component of the load voltage. The distortion voltage across the load is a combination of two components i.e. the component due to the source end distortion voltage V_{sd} , and the component due to the drop across the passive filter $I_{Lh}Z_{ph}$. The source end distortion may consists of voltage sag, swell, flicker and harmonics occurring at the point of common coupling as a result of the operation of linear or non-linear loads or line faults somewhere along the line. Equation 3.4 also shows that if the active filter control gain is tightly controlled such that $k_1 = 1$, then the distortion component in the load voltage due to the source end distortion can be cancelled. The second term in (3.4) shows that the harmonic currents flowing in the passive filter produce distortion in the load voltage. A conclusion can therefore be reached that Type A Compensation System cannot guarantee a load end voltage that is free of distortion.

From Fig 3.6 the harmonic current tending to flow through the source is obtained as follows. Applying KCL at the passive filter terminals

$$I_{sh} = I_{Lh} - I_{pfh} - k_2 (I_{Lh} - I_{pfh}) + \frac{V_{sd}(1 - k_1)}{Z_s + Z_{sh}}$$
(3.5)

where

$$I_{Lh} = I_{Lhi} + I_{Lhv} \tag{3.6}$$

and

$$I_{Lhv} = \frac{V_{Ld} - V_{Lhv}}{Z_{vh}}$$
(3.7)

The compensating current generated by the shunt active filter is

$$I_{AF2} = k_2 (I_{Lh} - I_{pfh})$$
(3.8)

where the extracted reference harmonic current is

$$I_{refh} = (I_{Lh} - I_{pfh}) \tag{3.9}$$

.. ..

Equation 3.5 shows that the harmonic current in the source is due to the combined load harmonics and the distortion in the source voltage. However, with $k_1 = 1$ and $k_2 = 1$, the distortion in the source current can be minimized or eliminated. If the active filters are controlled so that the gain conditions are met and the series passive filters are tuned to trap any residual harmonics, the source current harmonics can be eliminated.

3.4 Performance of Type A Compensation System Under Various Conditions

A computer simulation model of the compensation system was constructed in MATLAB (see Appendix A) to verify its performance under various operating conditions such as sags, swell, flicker and harmonics and in the absence of distortion. The CSNL load is represented by a dc motor drive with the six-pulse thyristor rectifier rated at 3 KVA. The VSNL is represented as a six-pulse thyristor rectifier with a large output capacitor driving a dc motor, also rated at 3 KVA. The control of the active filters has been discussed in Chapter 2.

The supply is a distribution system of 120V (rms) per phase with a source inductance of 1mH. The series and shunt passive filter parameters are given in Table 3.1.

	5 th	7 th	11 th
L	28.1mH	14.4mH	5.8mH
C	10uF	10uF	10uF
Q	20	20	20

Table 3.1: Passive filter parameters

The series active filter parameters are: DC Voltage, $V_{DC} = 250V$; Lowpass filter, $L_f = 1mH$, $C_f = 80\mu F$; Controller gains, $k_v = 2.0$ and $k_c = 2.0$, Carrier waveform frequency of 5KHz was used.

The shunt active filter parameters: DC voltage, $V_{DC} = 100V$; Lowpass filter, $L_f = 1mH$, $C_f = 80\mu F$.

3.4.1 Normal operations

Under normal operations i.e. when there is no system disturbance of any form and with the system loaded by the VSNL and CSNL, Fig. 3.7 and 3.8 show the waveform and harmonic spectrum of the system currents and voltages.



Fig 3.7: (a) VSNL input current; (b) CSNL input current; (c) Harmonic spectrum of VSNL current; (d) Harmonic spectrum of CSNL current



Fig 3.8: (a) Total load current; (b) Source current; (c) Harmonic spectrum of the total load current; (d) Harmonic spectrum of the source current

The total load current harmonic distortion is determined from Fig. 3.8c as 34% while the total source current distortion is obtained from Fig 3.8d as 2.45% a figure which meets the recommended harmonic specifications of IEEE 519.

To further investigate the performance of Type A Compensation System under different nonlinear load conditions, the total harmonic distortions of the nonlinear load current was varied so as to determine the resulting THD of the source voltage and current.

The results of this study are displayed in Table 3.2, where it can be observed that the load voltage THD increases with the load current THD and fails to meet specifications for large nonlinear loads with high THD in their input current.

Load current	Source current	Load voltage	Source voltage
THD%	THD%	THD%	THD%
107.59	6.04	8.97	2.58
83.15	4.49	7.35	2.30
55.05	3.05	6.54	1.78
37.62	2.31	5.40	1.20
26.23	2.01	4.11	0.9

Table 3.2: Source and load total harmonic distortion for Type A

From the results obtained, Type A Compensation System has the capability of compensating for nonlinear load current harmonics and voltage distortions resulting from the supply end. Its weakness is its inability to effectively mitigate load end voltage harmonics and the high voltage rating of the shunt active filter as a result of having to withstand the line voltage. This is shown in Fig 3.9. The figure shows that the supply voltage is undistorted having a very low total harmonic distortion of 1.5%, while the load end voltage contains distortion components. The load voltage is determined from Fig 3.9d to be 5.6%, a figure that exceeds the required specification.

The system is thus able to prevent harmonic distortion at the point of common coupling, but unable to keep the load end voltage free of harmonic distortion. Figure 3.10a shows the compensating current generated by the shunt active filter to cancel out the harmonic currents resulting from the nonlinear load operations. Fig 3.10b is the generated distortion voltage from the series active filter.



Fig 3.9: (a) Supply voltage; (b) Load voltage; (c) Harmonic spectrum of the supply voltage; (d) Harmonic spectrum of the load voltage.



Fig 3.10: Active filter outputs. (a) Shunt active filter compensating currents, (b) Series active filter output voltage.

3.4.2 Performance under voltage sag, swells and flicker conditions

Although Type A Compensation System is unable to compensate for voltage distortions resulting from the operation of the load, it is capable of compensating voltage distortions resulting from the supply end. Figure 3.11 show the performance of the system under source end distortion undergoing 30% sag at 0.1second and a 17% swell at 0.2 second. Fig 3.11b shows that the load voltage is held constant with the sag and swell condition present in the supply. Fig 3.11c shows the response of the series active filter in correcting for the deviation of the supply from its fixed reference.

Figure 3.12 and 3.13 shows an expanded part of Fig 3.11 i.e. the interval between 0.07 and 0.13 seconds and between 0.17 and 0.23 seconds. These figures show that series active filter using the adopted multiple loop control scheme has a fast dynamic response. It is capable of responding to quick changes in the supply voltage such as sudden sags occurring along the line hence keeping the load voltage near constant. Figure 3.14 shows the system response to supply voltage sag of 50% and swell of 30%. It shows again that the system is capable of compensating for the high values of voltage sags and swells. The amount of voltage sag and swell that can be compensated is limited only by the DC supply voltage in the inverter and the ratings of the semiconductor switches.

Figure 3.15 shows a 30% amplitude modulation of the supply end voltage by an 8Hz sinusoid resulting in voltage flicker at the load end, the resulting steady load voltage and the response of the series active filter, dynamically restoring the load end voltage to a fixed value. This demonstrates that the active compensation system is capable of compensating for slow variation in the supply voltage and hence results in voltage flicker elimination at the load voltage.



Fig 3.11: Voltage sag and swell compensation



Fig 3.12: (a) Supply voltage; (b) Load voltage; (c) Compensating voltage



Fig 3.13: (a) Supply voltage; (b) Load voltage; (c) Compensating voltage



Fig 3.14: Voltage sag and swell compensation for higher sag and swell value



Fig 3.15: Voltage flicker compensation: (a) Supply voltage with flicker; (b) Load voltage; (c) Series active filter compensating voltage

3.4.3 Simulation results for more complex models for Type A

Simpler load and inverter models (Appendix A.1, A.5 and A.6) were used in obtaining the results of the previous sections 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 in order to reduce the number of equations to be solved and to speed up the simulation time. More complex models (Appendix A.15 and A.16) were then used to present a more realistic view of the system performance. The results are presented in this section. Figure 3.16 and 3.17 shows that the system is just as effective with more complex simulation models.



Fig 3.16: Load currents with more complex models for type A



Fig 3.17: Currents and Voltages with more complex models for type A

3.5 Type B Compensation System

Type A Compensation System shown in figure 3.5 has a disadvantage of requiring the use of several current sensors in the control scheme since it is necessary to sense the load currents in the three phases and the passive filter currents in the three phases as well. This results in increase in cost. A series arrangement of the shunt active filter and the passive filter can solve the problem of high voltage rating of the shunt active filter and the requirement of high number of current sensors. This results in Type B Compensation System shown in Fig 3.18 with a single-phase equivalent model shown in figure 3.19.

3.5.1 System description and analysis

This compensation system is similar to Type A Compensation System except that the shunt compensator is a series type instead of a parallel type as in Type A Compensation System. The series active compensator is controlled as a voltage controlled voltage source, while the shunt active compensator is controlled as a current controlled voltage source. The reference signal for the series active compensator is the extracted distortion voltage at the point of common coupling, obtained by comparing the voltage at the PCC with a reference signal of the same phase. The error signal is the distortion voltage. The reference signal for the shunt active filter is obtained by the extraction of the load current harmonics by the synchronous reference frame method discussed in Chapter 2.

By the application of the circuit law of superposition and Kirchhoff's laws, the control equations are obtained as



Fig 3.18: Type B Compensation System Configuration



Fig 3.19: Single-phase equivalent model of Type B Compensation System

$$I_{sh} = \frac{V_{sd}(1-k_1)}{Z_s + Z_{sh}} + I_{Lh}(1-k_2)$$
(3.10)

The equation shows that for the inverter gains of unity, the harmonics can be cancelled from the source end, due to the load or from source end distortion.

The load end voltage has two components, one due to source end distortions and the other due to harmonic voltage drop across the shunt compensating devices. This is expressed in equation 3.11 as

$$V_{Ld} = \frac{V_{sd}(1-k_1)Z_{ph}}{Z_{ph}+Z_{sh}+Z_s} + I_{Lh}Z_{ph}$$
(3.11)

For a unity gain of the series active compensator, only the source end voltage distortions can be cancelled. The load end voltage will have distortions due to the harmonic voltage drop across the passive filter which is proportional to the harmonics in the load current and hence to the total harmonic distortion.

3.6 Performance of Type B Compensation System

A simulink model of the system was built and used to investigate its performance under non-linear load sag, and swell conditions. The system parameters are the same as in compensation system 1. (See Appendix A for the model).

3.6.1 Performance under normal load conditions

Figure 3.20 shows the simulation results of the system for the condition when the system is loaded with the VSNL and CSNL, in the absence of voltage sags or swells or other abnormal voltage condition.



Fig 3.20: (a) Combined load current; (b) source current



Fig 3.21: Harmonic spectrum of (a) load and (b) source currents

Figure 3.20 shows the simulated results of the load currents of the combined nonlinear load and the current drawn from the supply. Figure 3.21 shows the harmonic spectrum of the load current with a THD of 33%, and the spectrum of the source current with a THD of 4%, an 88% improvement which meets IEEE 519 specifications. The VSNL and CSNL currents are shown in Fig 3.22 and their frequency spectra showing their THD is shown in Fig 3.23. Figures 3.24 and 3.25 shows the waveform and frequency spectra of the source and load terminal voltage. It shows that the load terminal voltage has a high total harmonic distortion of 14%. The compensating voltage and current generated by the active filters is shown in Fig 3.26. The current and voltage are injected into the line in opposite phase to cause a cancellation of existing distortion and harmonics.



Fig 3.23: Harmonic spectrum of (a) VSNL and (b) CSNL currents.



Fig 3.24: (a) Supply voltage waveform and (b) Load voltage waveform



Fig 3.25: (a) Spectrum of supply voltage and (b) Spectrum of load voltage



Fig 3.26: (a) Injected harmonics by the shunt active filter and (b) compensating voltage by the series compensator

To further investigate the performance of Type B Compensation System, the load current total harmonic distortion was varied so as to observe the effect on the source current and voltage THD levels as well as the load voltage THD level.

Table 3.3 shows the performance in terms of total harmonic distortion of the source current, voltage and load end voltage as a result of variations in the total harmonic distortion of the load current. The results in the Table were obtained by simulation.

Load current	Source current	Load voltage	Source voltage
THD%	THD%	THD%	THD%
105	11.0	8.7	12.1
74	8.0	4.0	8.0
40	4.5	1.5	6.3
32	3.0	1.2	6.0
23	2.7	1.1	5.1

Table 3.3: Source and load Total harmonic distortion for Type B

The simulation result shows that the load end voltage total harmonic distortion consistently fails to meet the recommended limits for normal operation of critical loads. It is also noted that the load end voltage contains more distortion compared to Type A Compensation System. This is a result of the limitation caused by the series connection of passive and active filter, preventing effective compensation of harmonics that are not at the tuned frequencies of the passive filters. Also the second component of (4.11) results in load voltage distortion and cannot be canceled by the active filters.

The results show that Type B Compensation System is capable of harmonic cancellation and correction of voltage distortion. The performance of the shunt active filter is more dependent on the characteristics of the passive filter than in Type A because of the series arrangement. This imposes a constraint on the active filter performance, since the passive filters are usually tuned to specific frequencies. Other frequencies extracted by the synchronous reference frame control scheme and generated by the shunt active filter will be subjected to relatively high attenuation by the passive filter impedance at those frequencies.

For harmonic producing nonlinear loads where the harmonic orders are known and well defined, such as adjustable speed drives using three-phase diode or thyristor converters, Type B Compensation System will be more efficient because of the reduction in the voltage rating of the active devices used in the shunt active filter. However, if the dominant harmonic order is unknown or varies rapidly as in arc furnace loads during the striking of the arc, Type A Compensation System will be more effective, since the shunt active filter is not constrained by the passive filter. Therefore there is a tradeoff between the voltage rating of the active devices and the order of harmonics that can be effectively compensated.

3.6.2 Performance in the presence of voltage flicker

Figure 3.27a shows the supply voltage with a 30% modulation by a low frequency sinusoid, resulting in voltage flicker conditions. Figure 3.27b shows the load-end voltage, which is held constant and 3.27c is the compensation voltage generated by the series active compensator. As in Type A Compensation System, Type B Compensation System is also able to dynamically restore the load end voltage to predefined reference value, making the load end voltage immune to system disturbances such as voltage sags, swell, flicker and other voltage distortion that may be undesirable at the load end. Due to the
fact the compensator is constantly online, response to variation in the voltage is fast and dynamic. The multiple loop control scheme used in the inverter circuit ensures that the inverter output voltage follows the reference and that a stable operation results.



Fig 3.27: (a) Supply voltage with flicker; (b) Compensated load end voltage (c) Series active compensator output voltage

3.6.3 Simulation results for more complex models for Type B

More complex models were also used to present a more realistic view of the system performance. The results are presented in this section. Figures 3.28 and 3.29 shows that the system is just as effective with more complex simulation models. The results are consistent with that of the simpler models.



Fig 3.28: Nonlinear load currents with more complex models for type B



Fig 3.29: Currents and Voltages with more complex models for type B

3.7 Summary

In this chapter, two different types of load, the current source type nonlinear load and the voltage source type nonlinear load were introduced and discussed. Their harmonic effects were also considered as well as the harmonic and distortion mitigation methods.

Two compensation systems suitable for a combination of both kinds of loads were investigated. Type A Compensation System consisted of a parallel tuned passive filter in series with an active filter using multiple loop control method as the series hybrid compensator. It also has a series tuned passive filter in parallel with an active filter using the synchronous frame based harmonic extraction method as the shunt compensator. Type B Compensation System had the same series compensator as in Type A, but a shunt compensator with the passive filter in series. The performance of both compensation systems was investigated under various load conditions as well as source variation. Both systems were effective in mitigating source end distortions resulting from sags, swell or flicker. However, Type A Compensation System was more effective in reducing the total harmonic distortion of the load end voltage and its source end current had a lower level of harmonic distortion. However the voltage rating of the active filter can be high. Type B Compensation System results in lower rating of the active filter, but the range of harmonics covered by the passive filter limits its performance. This results in a tradeoff between bandwidth in Type A Compensation System and rating in Type B.

Chapter 4

Load-end Voltage and Current Compensation Systems

In the previous chapter, the performance and characteristics of two compensation systems were examined and it was shown that both systems were effective in compensating for harmonics caused by the operation of nonlinear loads in the system. However, it was also shown that because of the position of the series active compensator, which in both systems is between the supply and the shunt hybrid filter, it is unable to compensate for voltage distortions in the load terminals caused by the flow of current harmonics in the shunt filter. In order to compensate for this drawback, it is proposed that the series active compensator be positioned between the passive filter and the load terminals. This will allow for the voltage distortions due to source-end variations and the shunt filter to be compensated. This topology is expected to result in better voltage compensation than the two systems previously considered. In this chapter, the analysis and performance of this compen-

sation system will be investigated with the aim of demonstrating that the total harmonic distortion in the load terminal voltage is improved compared to the previous systems. Single-phase equivalent circuit model is used to carry out the analysis as in the previous chapter.

4.1 Type C Compensation System

The first proposed compensation system referred to as Type C Compensation System is shown in schematic form in Fig 4.1 and its single-phase equivalent circuit model is shown in Fig 4.2.

The system topology is comparable to that of Type A Compensation System, with the exception that the series active compensator is positioned at the load terminal voltage for better voltage compensation. The functions of the active compensators are described as follows:

- As in the previously considered systems, the shunt hybrid compensator is used for current compensation since current compensation and voltage compensation are carried out separately. The active and passive filters connected in parallel to the load complement each other in the harmonic bandwidth covered. The injected harmonics by the inverter is given by $I_{AF2} = k_2(I_{Lh} I_{pfh})$.
- The series active compensator acts as a distortion voltage generator serving to produce the voltage distortion at the passive filter terminals and injecting it in opposite phase in the line, hence canceling it out. The output voltage is given by $V_{AF1} = V_p (1-k_1)$ where V_p is the distortion voltage at the passive filter terminals ob-

tained by subtracting the actual passive terminal voltage from a reference i.e. $V_p = V_p^* - V_{ref}$, where V_p^* is the actual distorted voltage, consisting of the fundamental sinusoidal voltage that may be due to sags, swells and distortion voltage.



Fig 4.1: Type C Compensation system



Fig 4.2: Single-phase equivalent circuit of Type C compensation system

By applying KCL to the shunt filter terminals in the circuit of Fig 4.2, the harmonic current flowing into the supply terminals is given as

$$I_{sh} = \frac{V_{sd} - V_p}{Z_s + Z_{sh}} + I_{Lh} - I_{pfh} - k_2 (I_{Lh} - I_{pfh})$$
(4.1)

where I_{sh} has two components; one due to load current harmonics and the other due to source end distortion. With the gain of the shunt active filter set to unity, the component due to the load current harmonics is cancelled. The components due to the supply distortion are not compensated for actively. However, the high impedance of the series passive filter at the tuned harmonic frequencies serves to limit the supply harmonics that can flow into the shunt filter. Comparing (4.1) to (3.5), it is observed that the series active compensator has no effect on current compensation in Type C Compensation System, unlike in Type A Compensation System, where it serves to cancel out supply end distortion current. This can also be seen intuitively since the position of the series active compensator in Type C requires the full load current to flow though it. Hence it cannot compensate for load current harmonics. Its placement between the load terminals and the passive filter also prevents it from being able to compensate for supply current distortion. Hence current compensation and voltage compensation are achieved independently in Type C Compensation System, the shunt active and passive filter being entirely responsible for mitigation of the load current harmonics.

The series active filter is used to provide voltage compensation for the load terminals.

The voltage distortion at the load terminals without the series active filter is the superposition of supply voltage distortion and the distortion voltage component due to distortion current flowing in the passive filter. The load terminal voltage can be written as

$$V_{Ld} = \frac{V_{sd} Z_{ph}}{Z_{ph} + Z_s + Z_{sh}} + I_{pfh} Z_{ph}$$
(4.2)

With the series active filter inserted between the passive filter terminals and the load, the passive filter terminal voltage becomes different from the load terminal voltage.

$$V_{p} = \frac{V_{sd} Z_{ph}}{Z_{ph} + Z_{s} + Z_{sh}} + I_{pfh} Z_{ph}$$
(4.3)

and the load terminal voltage becomes

$$V_{Ld} = V_p (1 - k_1) \tag{4.4}$$

Equation (4.4) shows that the insertion of the series active filter in the position between the passive filter terminals and the load terminals allows for a more comprehensive voltage correction as it allows for correction of both the supply end distortion as well as the distortion caused by the passive filter. This constitutes a significant improvement of the load terminal voltage profile over the previous systems considered.

The significant improvement in the load voltage profile in terms of its harmonic and distortion content comes at the cost of a poorer harmonic compensation of the supply current if the supply voltage is distorted. However, the series passive filter contributes to limit the harmonic current flowing into the shunt passive filter since it blocks the harmonics it is tuned to, which usually are the dominant harmonics. This can be seen in (4.1).

4.2 Simulation results for Type C Compensation System

As in Type A and Type B Compensation Systems, the validation of Type C Compensation System performance was accomplished via computer simulation in the Power System Block set of Simulink. The simulation model is presented in Appendix A. For the purpose of consistency and comparison, the simulation was carried out under the same load and supply conditions as for the previous two systems in chapter 3.

Figure 4.3a shows the input current drawn by the combination of the voltage source type nonlinear load and the current source type nonlinear load. Figure 4.4a is the harmonic spectrum of the load current, with a total harmonic distortion of 43%. Figures 4.3b and 4.4b show the resulting source current and its harmonic spectrum, with a total harmonic distortion of 4.3%. Figures 4.5 and 4.6 show the individual nonlinear load currents and their harmonic contents. Figure 4.7 shows the supply voltage and the load terminal voltage when the supply voltage has low distortion as shown by their harmonic spectrum in Fig 4.8. Figure 4.9 shows the supply voltage with harmonic distortion, and the compensated load voltage with no distortion. The compensating harmonic current is shown in Fig 4.10a. The current is generated by the shunt active filter and injected into the line forcing the load current harmonics to flow in the shunt filter path instead of the source. Figure 4.10b is the generated voltage by the series active filter. It compensates for the voltage drop resulting from the flow of fundamental current in the series passive filter. Figure 4.11 shows that the system compensates for voltage flicker in the source terminal, keeping the load terminal voltage constant.



Fig 4.4: Harmonic spectrum of (a) load current; (b) source current

.:



(b) Harmonic number Fig 4.6: Harmonic spectrum of (a) VSNL Current; (b) CSNL Current



Fig 4.8: Harmonic spectrum of (a) Supply voltage; (b) Load voltage



Fig 4.9: (a) Distorted supply voltage; (b) Compensated load voltage; (c) Spectrum of supply voltage; (d) Spectrum of load voltage



Fig 4.10: (a) Compensating currents generated by the shunt active filter; (b) Compensating voltage generated by the series active filter



Fig 4.11: Response to voltage fluctuation and flicker.

To further investigate the performance of the compensation system, the total harmonic distortion of the load current was varied to observe the effect on the THD of the source current and the THD of the load voltage. The result is shown in Table 4.1. The results show that the compensation system is particularly effective in the elimination of load voltage distortion. This is expected due to the position of the series active compensator in the topology.

Load current	Source current	Load voltage	Source voltage
THD%	THD%	THD%	THD%
110	4.12	0.76	3.20
74	2.89	0.50	2.90
40	1.72	0.43	2.70
32	1.46	0.31	2.10
23	1.22	0.15	1.40

Table 4.1: Source and load total harmonic distortion for Type C

The Table also shows that the system is able to correct for harmonic distortion in the source current and in the source voltage. Type C Compensation System is thus able to compensate for current distortions caused by the nonlinear load, and it also has the advantage of excellent load terminal voltage compensation as indicated by the near zero

in the sector of

.

vantage of excellent load terminal voltage compensation as indicated by the near zero total harmonic distortion.

Due to the parallel connection of the shunt active filter with the passive filter, the harmonic current compensation is accomplished on a complementary basis, since the active filter control reference currents are the passive filter harmonics subtracted from the load current harmonics. This results in lower current ratings, but has a disadvantage of requiring relatively large number of current sensors. A series connection of the shunt active filter and passive filter should remove the need for large number of current sensors, and large voltage rating due to direct line connection. This results in a new topology, Type D Compensation System.

4.2.1 Simulation results for more complex models for Type C

Again, in this compensation system, more complex models were also used to present a more realistic view of the system performance. The results are presented in this section. Figures 4.12 shows the nonlinear load currents resulting from the operation of the two types of nonlinear loads considered, the combined load currents and the resulting source currents having a low total harmonic distortion. The source and load terminal voltage waveforms are shown in Fig 4.13. The results show that the system is just as effective with more complex simulation models.



Fig 4.12: Load and source currents for more complex models for Type D compensation system



Fig 4.13: Source and load voltage for more complex models for Type C

4.3 Type D Compensation System

This harmonic and distortion compensation system is similar to the Type C Compensation System except that the parallel passive filter and the shunt active filter are placed in series. This arrangement ensures that the same harmonic current flow in both filters, but the line voltage is shared. This is advantageous in that it limits the voltage stress on the semiconductor switches used in the active filter, resulting in reduced ratings and cost. As in the previous systems, a single-phase approach is used in deriving the compensation equations. Figure 4.14 shows a singe phase diagram of the compensator and Fig 4.15 shows the single-phase equivalent model.



Fig 4.14: Type D Compensation System



Fig 4.15: Single phase equivalent model of Type D compensation system

From the circuit of Fig 4.15, the harmonic current flowing in the source is obtained as

$$I_{sh} = \frac{V_{sd} - V_p}{Z_{sh}} + I_{Lh} (1 - k_2)$$
(4.5)

Equation (4.5) shows that with a tight control of the shunt active filter, the harmonics produced as a result of the nonlinear loads can be cancelled. However, harmonics produced as a result of supply voltage distortion will tend to flow into the shunt passive filter, which has low impedance at tuned frequencies. The series passive filter therefore serves to limit the flow of supply end harmonics into the shunt compensator at the dominant harmonic frequencies.

The voltage compensation principles are the same as for the Type C Compensation System; hence (4.2), (4.3) and (4.4) apply.

4.4 Simulation results for Type D Compensation System

The system was simulated under the same conditions as for the previous systems. Matlab was used for the simulation and the Simulink model is shown in Appendix A. Figure 4.16 shows the load and source current and their harmonic spectra. The load current total harmonic distortion of 33% has been reduced to 1.5% in the source current. Fig 4.17 is the VSNL and CSNL currents and their harmonic spectra, showing the magnitude of the individual frequency contents. Fig 4.18 is the supply and load voltage and their frequency spectrum showing an undistorted supply and load voltage.



Fig 4.16: (a) Combined load current; (b) source current; (c) Harmonic spectrum of the load current; (d) Harmonic spectrum of the source current



Fig 4.17: (a) VSNL current; (b) CSNL current; (c) Harmonic spectrum of the VSNL current; (d) Harmonic spectrum of the CSNL current



Fig 4.18: (a) Supply voltage; (b) Load voltage; (c) Harmonic spectrum of the supply voltage; (d) Harmonic spectrum of the load voltage

The capability of the system to correct for supply end distortions such as voltage flicker, sag and swell is shown by Fig 4.19. The figure shows an undulating supply voltage that would result in the flickering of lamps, the load terminal voltage and the compensating voltage generated by the active filter. The result shows that the system is able to correct for distortion in the supply voltage hence keeping the load voltage constant.

Table 4.2 shows the performance of the compensation system when the total harmonic distortion of the load current was varied to observe the effect on the source current and on the load voltage. The results show that the system is very effective in mitigating load voltage distortion caused by nonlinear load operation.

Load current	Source current	Load voltage	Source voltage
THD%	THD%	THD%	THD%
94.6	5.21	0.17	3.17
80.4	4.21	0.12	2.75
66.3	3.72	0.10	1.91
35.5	1.94	0.09	1.40
22.7	1.65	0.04	0.93

Table 4.2: Source and load Total harmonic distortion for Type D

The total harmonic distortion in the source current and the load voltage decrease with decreasing load current THD.



Figure 4.19: Response to voltage fluctuation and flicker.

4.4.1 Simulation results for more complex models for Type D

More complex models were also used to obtain more simulation results for Type D compensation system. The result shows that the system is also effective in canceling harmonics and correcting voltage distortion, as in simpler models. The VSNL and CSNL currents are shown in Fig 4.20. The combined load currents, the supply voltage and the load terminal voltage are shown in Fig 4.21. The resulting total harmonic distortion in the waveforms for the source currents and voltages demonstrates the functionality of the system in harmonic compensation.



Fig 4.20: Nonlinear load currents for more complex models for Type D compensation system



Fig 4.21: Currents and voltages for more complex models for Type D

4.5 Summary

This chapter has focused on two compensation systems having the series active compensator on the load terminals, between the load and the shunt compensators. Type C Compensation System has a parallel-based shunt compensator while Type D Compensation System has a series based shunt compensator. The principal objective of both topologies is the mitigation of the load voltage distortion. The simulated performance of both systems shows that they are effective in the elimination of load voltage distortion and source current harmonics. They are also effective in compensating for voltage flicker from the supply such that the load voltage is held constant. As in the previous two systems, due to the parallel arrangement of the shunt active filter, Type C Compensation System will have a higher bandwidth than that of Type D. However, due to the high voltage stresses the shunt active filter is subjected to, its voltage rating and hence cost is increased with respect to Type D Compensation System.

Chapter 5

Ratings of the Active Filters in the Hybrid Compensators

A major limitation on the use of the active filter is the cost of the device. The cost of the semiconductor switches increases with their ratings so does the size and ratings of associated circuits components such as drives and snubber circuits. Hybrid topologies were developed and proposed by researchers partly to help reduce the cost as opposed to using pure active filters in the compensation systems and also to improve the performance of passive filtering schemes. In this chapter, the ratings of the active compensators in the compensation topologies presented in the preceding chapters are investigated.

In the four compensation configurations presented in the previous two chapters, the active filters have been arranged as follows:

• The series active and passive filters are on the supply side of the shunt filter. With a tight control of the harmonics, this means only the fundamental current will flow

through the active filter. This filtering arrangement is labeled type 1.

- The series active filter is on the load end while the series passive filter is on the supply end. In this case, the series active filter is rated for the full load current, which includes the load harmonics. This is labeled is type 2.
- The shunt active and passive filters are in parallel. In this configuration, the full line voltage appears across both the active and passive filters. However, the active filter shares the harmonic currents with the passive filter. This is labeled type 3.
- The shunt active filter and passive filter are in series. This configuration ensures that the active filter is subjected to a reduced voltage as a result of the voltage sharing. On the other hand, both filters carry the same harmonic currents. This arrangement is labeled type 4.

The compensation systems described in the previous chapters are a combination of the various hybrid active types. Type A Compensation system consists of type 1 and type 3 hybrid filters while Type B Compensation System is a combination of type 1 and type 4 hybrid filters. Type 2 and 3 hybrid filters are employed in Type C Compensation system while type 1 and 4 hybrid filters are used in Type D Compensation system.

5.1 Rating of Type 1 Hybrid Series Filter

Figure 5.1 shows the type 1 series hybrid filter used in Type A and B Compensation systems. The analysis of the system is carried out with the aim of determining the rating of the active filters for a reference load. All voltages and currents are in rms.



Fig 5.1: Type 1 Hybrid series filter

 S_{load} is the total KVA rating of the non-linear load having or causing a known amount of distortion. It is important that the distortion level caused by the non-linear load be known since it determines the level of compensation that would be needed and hence the rating of the active filters. Let S_{load} have an input current of I_L with a total current harmonic distortion of THD_i

From Fig 5.1

$$S_{load} = V_p I_L \tag{5.1}$$

Using KCL on the shunt filter terminals, (5.1) can be written as

$$S_{load} = V_p (I_{L1} + I_{Lh})$$
(5.2)

The total harmonic distortion in the load current is given by

°u⊳I.

$$THD_{i} = 100 \frac{\sqrt{\sum_{n \neq 1}^{\infty} I_{Ln}^{2}}}{I_{L1}}$$
(5.3)

The fundamental component of the load current I_{L1} is drawn from the supply while the harmonic currents I_{Lh} flow in the shunt compensator.

$$I_{Lh} = \sqrt{\sum_{n \neq 1}^{\infty} I_{Ln}^2}$$
(5.4)

Equation (5.2) can therefore be expressed as

$$S_{load} = V_P I_{L1} \left(1 + \frac{THD_i}{100} \right)$$
(5.5)

The KVA rating of the series active filter is given as

$$S_{AF1} = I_{L1} V_{AF1} (5.6)$$

where V_{AFI} is the compensating distortion voltage output of the series active compensator. Equation (5.6) can be written as

$$S_{AF1} = I_{L1} k_1 V_{sd}$$
(5.7)

where V_{sd} is the deviation of the supply voltage from a set reference. From (5.5) and (5.7), the rating of the series active compensator can be determined in per unit of the load as

$$\frac{S_{AF1}}{S_{load}} = \frac{k_1 V_{sd}}{V_p \left(1 + \frac{THD}{100}\right)}$$
(5.8)
Assuming that the dominant component of the distortion voltage is voltage sags and swells, and further assuming a sag(s) mitigation of the line voltage, (6.8) becomes

$$\frac{S_{AF1}}{S_{load}} = \frac{s}{(1 + \frac{THD}{100})}$$
(5.9)

Figure 5.2 shows that the rating of the series active compensator in per unit of the load decreases with increasing total current harmonic distortion. This is expected because increasing the distortion of the load currents for a fixed load implies increasing the higher order harmonics and a corresponding decrease in the fundamental. The figure also shows that the rating of the series active filter increases with the voltage sag magnitude as expected.

Figure 5.3 shows the variation of the rating of the series active compensator for increasing load rating and various sag magnitudes. The plot shows that the active filter rating increases for increasing load rating. This is the result of the increasing fundamental component in the load currents; the rating also increases for increasing sag magnitude.



Fig 5.2: Variation of the rating of the series active compensator with total harmonic distortion of the load current for various sags s and for a fixed load of 1 per unit. $k_1 = 1$



Fig 5.3: Variation of the Series active compensator rating with the load rating for a fixed THD of 50% and for various sags s. $k_1 = 1$

5.2 Rating of Type 2 Hybrid Series Filter

This hybrid compensator type has the series passive filter on the source side of the shunt compensator and the active filter on the load side. Due to the positioning of the series active filter, it is subjected to the full load current that is, the fundamental and the harmonics flow through it; hence it must me rated to carry the full load current. Figure 5.4 shows the single-phase equivalent circuit of the type 2 compensator.



Fig 5.4: Type 2 Hybrid series filter

From Fig 5.4, the series active filter rating is

$$S_{AF1} = I_L V_{AF1} \tag{5.10}$$

where V_{AF1} is the compensating voltage generated by the series active filter to cancel the distortion in V_p , at the shunt compensator terminals.

If it is assumed that the dominant voltage distortion likely to occur is voltage sags and

swells, and allowing for a sag and swell mitigation factor of s, the active filter rating per unit of the load rating becomes

$$\frac{S_{AF1}}{S_{load}} = \frac{s \, k_1 \, V_s \, I_L}{V_L I_L} = s \, k_1 \tag{5.11}$$

$$\frac{S_{AF1}}{S_{load}} = s \tag{5.12}$$

for $k_1 = 1$, since the compensator ensures that $V_L = V_s$. Equation (5.12) indicates that the rating of the series active filter in this compensator type is independent of the load current total harmonic distortion, but is solely dependent on the load rating and the voltage distortion compensation factor allowed.

5.3 Rating of Type 3 Hybrid Shunt Filter

In this hybrid filter type, the shunt passive filter and shunt active filter are in parallel with the load. Figure 5.5 is a schematic of the hybrid shunt filter. Both the active and passive filters are subjected to the same load terminal voltage. However, they share the compensating harmonic currents. The control is carried out by first extracting the harmonic currents of the load (I_{Lh}) . The harmonic currents flowing through the tuned shunt passive filters (I_{pf}) are then sensed, measured and subtracted from the load harmonic currents. The resulting harmonic current is then used as a reference for the shunt active filter.

Since the passive filters are tuned to known fixed frequencies and are inflexible once they are tuned and installed, the active filters can then be used to compensate for the other fre-

quencies that may be present resulting in increased flexibility, wider range of harmonics compensation, and a lower rating for the active filter.



Fig 5.5: Type 3 hybrid shunt filter

From Fig 5.8

$$S_{AF2} = k_2 (I_{Lh} - I_{pf}) V_P$$
(5.13)

Equation (5.15) can be written in terms of the load current THD and the fundamental as

$$S_{AF2} = k_2 \left(\frac{THD_I I_{L1}}{100} - I_{pf}\right) V_P$$
(5.14)

Since the passive filters are usually tuned to specific harmonics for a reference load having a total harmonic distortion of THD% in its input current, it follows that the harmonic current through the passive filters are constant. From (5.14), the rating of the active filter decreases for increasing values of passive filter current.

Expressing the rating of the active filter in per unit of the load rating, (5.14) becomes

$$\frac{S_{AF2}}{S_{load}} = \frac{\left(\frac{THD_i}{100} - \frac{I_{pf}}{I_{L1}}\right)k_2}{1 + \frac{THD_i}{100}}$$
(5.15)

From (5.3) and (5.4)

$$I_{L1} = \frac{100}{THD_i} I_{Lh}$$
(5.16)

Substituting in equation 5.15 gives

$$\frac{S_{AF2}}{S_{load}} = \frac{k_2 \frac{THD_i}{100} (1 - I_r)}{(1 + \frac{THD_i}{100})}$$
(5.17)

where $I_r = \frac{I_{pf}}{I_{Lh}}$

For any value of load current total harmonic distortion for a reference load, the ratio of the passive filter current to the total load current harmonics I_r , strongly influences the rating of the active filter. Increasing I_r implies that the passive filter compensating current is increasing; hence the rating of the active filter falls.

Figure 5.6 shows the variation of the active filter rating with load current THD for a reference load with the active filter rating expressed as per unit of the load rating. The figure shows that the active filter rating increases with the load current total harmonic distortion and decreasing current ratio, I_r . Figure 5.7 shows that the active filter rating increases with the load rating for a specific value of load current total harmonic distortion and also decreases with increasing current ratio



Fig 5.6: Variation of active filter rating with load current THD for a fixed reference load



Fig 5.7: Variation of the shunt active filter rating with load rating having a current THD of 50%

5.4 Rating of Type 4 Hybrid Shunt Filter

In these compensation system topologies, the shunt active and passive filters are in series. The type 4 hybrid shunt filter arrangement is used to reduce the rating of the active device, since the line voltage divides between the passive filter and the active filter. This is the result of the voltage drop across the small leakage impedance of the coupling transformer. Figure 5.8 shows a single-phase representation of the type 4 hybrid shunt filter Since the active and passive filters are in series, the active filter rating can be written as

$$S_{AF2} = k_2 I_{Lh} V_p \frac{Z_{iaf2}}{Z_{pf} + Z_{iaf2}}$$
(5.18)

where Z_{taf2} is the per unit leakage impedance of the matching transformer and Z_{pf} is the passive filter impedance at the line voltage frequency.



Fig 5.8: Type 4 hybrid shunt filter.

Equation (5.18) shows that the rating of the shunt active filter is proportional to the transformer impedance, hence for small ratings; it is desirable to have the leakage impedance as small as possible. Equation (5.18) can be written as

$$S_{AF2} = k_2 I_{Lh} V_p Z_r \tag{5.19}$$

where
$$Z_r = \frac{Z_{laf2}}{Z_{pf} + Z_{laf2}}$$
 (5.20)

Equation (5.19) can be written in terms of the fundamental current and the total harmonic distortion of the load current as

$$S_{AF2} = k_2 \frac{THD_i I_{L1}}{100} V_p Z_r$$
(5.21)

Hence the rating of the shunt active filter expressed as per unit of the load rating is

$$\frac{S_{AF2}}{S_{load}} = \frac{\frac{THD}{100}Z_{r}}{1 + \frac{THD}{100}}$$
(5.22)

Equation (5.22) shows that the VA rating of the shunt active filter is proportional to the load rating and also proportional to the amount of harmonic distortion caused by the load input current. This is expected because for a fixed reference load, increasing the harmonic distortion of its input current results in increased shunt compensating current injected in the line. Also for a given load with a fixed THD, increasing its rating also results in higher harmonic levels that need compensation. Figures 5.9 and 5.10 are a graphical representation of the increasing rating of the shunt active filter with THD and load. The plots show that the shut active filter rating increases with the load rating, the load current total harmonic distortion and Z_r .



Fig 5.9: Increase of shunt active filter rating with load current THD



Fig 5.10: Variation of the shunt active filter rating with load rating for a fixed load current harmonic distortion of 50%. $(k_2 = 1)$

5.5 Performance Comparison of the Compensation Systems

The four compensation systems under consideration in previous chapters are composed of the four hybrid filter types arranged in various configurations. In this section, the performance comparison of the compensation systems is carried out with the aim of determining, with respect to a fixed reference load with a known total harmonic distortion in the load current, the current compensation level achieved by each system as well as the level of voltage distortion cancellation attained. This is done with a view of providing recommendation for the best potential application of each system.

The current compensation performance of the compensation systems was investigated for similar levels of total harmonic distortion in the load current. From the results shown in Fig 5.11, and also illustrated in tables 3.1, 3.2, 4.1, and 4.2 in the previous chapters, Types A and C Compensation Systems offers better performance in preventing the load current harmonics from contaminating the source. This is due to the parallel arrangement of the shunt compensator elements, i.e. the shunt passive and shunt active filters are in parallel. The control is also carried out to allow for the active filter to complement the passive filter. This arrangement is also better for loads whose harmonic components are unknown or is rapidly changing such as arc furnace loads. However, for loads with well-known and unvarying harmonic components such as six-pulse drives, the reduction in the rating of the shunt active as a result of the voltage dividing between the active and passive filter of Types B and D Compensation Systems may be of more significance than their slightly higher total harmonic distortion.



Fig 5.11: Harmonic compensation in Compensation Systems A-D







Fig 5.13: Supply voltage sag compensation in Compensations Systems A-D

In all the compensation systems, the voltage distortion at the load terminals is a superposition of the source end distortion and passive filter caused distortion. Figure 5.12 shows the performance of the compensation systems in the elimination of the voltage distortion caused by the flow of harmonics in the passive filter. The figure illustrates that Types C and D Compensation Systems are more effective in this regard as a result of the position of the series active filter in the topologies. When the voltage distortion is from the supply end as in voltage sag, swell and flicker, all the compensation topologies are effective in correcting the deviation from the reference. This is illustrated in Fig 5.13.

5.6 Summary

In this chapter, the various types of basic compensator topologies used in the hybrid active compensation systems of the previous two chapters have been described. The rating of the active compensators with respect to the rating of the load and the total harmonic distortion of the load current has also been determined. It was shown that the rating of the active compensators strongly depends on the applicable topology, the load rating and the total harmonic distortion of the load current. In all types, the active compensator rating increased for increasing load. Type 1 series active filter rating decreased with increased load current THD for a fixed reference load, while type 4 series active filter rating is unaffected by the THD of the load current. For the shunt active compensators, the ratings in both types 2 and 3 follows a similar pattern, increasing with the load rating and the load current THD. The various compensation systems were also compared in terms of their harmonic current mitigation with respect to a harmonic rich load current. Similarly, the voltage distortion compensation of the four systems was also compared with each other, with load caused distortion and the source end distortion as the comparison factors.

Chapter 6

Conclusions and Scope for Future Work

In this thesis, the analysis and performance of four hybrid compensation topologies have been carried out. The performance characteristics were determined and quantified using the total harmonic distortion of the compensated source current with respect to the load current. The load voltage and the source voltage distortion levels were also used as indicators of the performance of the compensation topologies.

The multiple feedback loop control scheme, developed for use in UPS applications, was first investigated to determine its suitability for use in active filtering applications. The following basic features of the scheme made it attractive for active filtering applications.

The inner current loop of the control scheme has been shown to provide a peak current limit in the capacitor of the output filter, hence limiting current surges at start up. It has also been shown to be capable of predicting and correcting near future variation in the output voltage, hence resulting in fast dynamic response in the inverter. The outer voltage loop ensures that the inverter output voltage is a replica of the reference. It was shown that the control scheme is capable of:

- Generating sinusoidal voltages at the line frequency for injection into the line for compensation of voltage sags, swells and flicker.
- Generating non-sinusoidal voltages and currents for harmonic compensation in the line.

Having established the functionality of the control scheme for active filter applications, the harmonic current extraction method was investigated. The scheme based on the synchronous reference frame controllers was adopted. It was also demonstrated that the scheme is capable of extracting the harmonic currents that may be present in the load current. The inverter control scheme and the harmonic current extraction method adopted were then applied to the four compensation topologies investigated.

The capacity of the compensation systems to mitigate the harmonic and distortion caused by the operation of two kinds of nonlinear loads was the subject of the investigation. The hybrid load considered consisted of a voltage source and a current source type nonlinear load. A single-phase model of Type A Compensation System was developed and used to determine the compensation requirements. Simulation results demonstrating the capacity of the system to mitigate load current harmonics and voltage distortion were presented. The parallel connection of the shunt hybrid filter in the topology resulted in very good harmonic compensation as a result of the complementing effect in the harmonic extraction and control between the active and the passive filters. Type B Compensation System was also investigated. It was an attempt to reduce the rating of the active filter in the shunt hybrid filter by a series arrangement as opposed to a parallel arrangement. The price paid is the loss of the advantages of complementation in the control. The system was found to result in higher values of total harmonic distortion in the source current. Both systems were effective in supply voltage distortion correction since they both employ the same type of hybrid series filter.

Due to the positioning of the series hybrid filter in the previous compensation systems, voltage distortions caused by the flow of load current harmonics through the passive filter were not compensated for, resulting in relatively high total harmonic distortions in the load terminal voltage. To overcome this load voltage distortion, the series active filter was positioned at the load side of the shunt hybrid filter. This resulted in Type C and D Compensation System. It was shown that the total harmonic distortion in the load voltage improved significantly compared to the previous two systems. A disadvantage of the topologies of Types C and D Compensation System is that the series active filter has to be rated for the full load current, increasing its size and cost.

The rating of the active filters in the various types of hybrid configurations was determined. For type 1 hybrid filter, the rating depended on the THD of the load current, the VA rating of the load and the level of voltage sag/swell compensation allowed. While the rating of type 1 increased with the load rating and the sag compensation factor, it decreases with increasing load current THD. The rating of type 2 filter on the load side of the shunt hybrid filter is independent of the load current THD as it is rated for the full load current. The ratings of type 3 and 4 were also determined to increase with the load rating and the total harmonic distortion in the load current.

The contributions of this work can be summarized as follows:

- An investigation of the performance of different hybrid filtering topologies and their comparison leading to recommendations about their most suited applications. This is significant because it allows the designers to make an informed choice regarding the type of compensation system depending on the loads in the system.
- A determination of the rating of the active filters with respect to the load rating, the total harmonic distortion of the load current and factors such as voltage sag. This is also necessary since the cost increases in proportion to the rating, hence to keep cost down; there is the need for a proper choice of the compensation system.
- A simple voltage distortion extraction method was used. This eliminates the need for complicated extraction circuits and large computation time.
- A successful adaptation of the multiple feedback control scheme for active filtering application. The control scheme guarantees accurate generation of the extracted reference current harmonics and voltage distortion.

6.1 Suggestions for Future Work

• The effectiveness of any compensation systems depends on the capability of the control system used to accurately extract the harmonics. The extraction scheme used in this work is the synchronous reference frame method. The method is cumbersome and requires that the system be three-phase, making it difficult for single-phase applications. It is also difficult to use when there is unbalance voltage or currents in the system. One possible solution to this problem is to use an extraction method based on the discrete wavelet transform algorithm. A general overview of the method has shown that it is fast, accurate and does not require the system to be three-phase. Further study is required to confirm its feasibility for active filtering application

- Ideal coupling transformers were assumed in the models used in this work. A study where such an assumption is not made would be interesting, as the effect of the transformer parameters on the inverter output voltage maybe significant.
- It may also be advantageous to investigate other control methods such as fuzzy logic and neural network based controllers for determining the inverter switching times.
- An experimental verification of the compensation systems and the control method investigated in this work is recommended.

References

[1] F. Z. Peng, "Harmonic sources and filtering approaches," IEEE Industrial application magazine, pp. 18-25, July/August 2001.

[2] J. Alfonso, C. Couto and J. Martins, "Active filters with control based on the p-q theory," IEEE Industrial Electronics Society Newsletter, vol. 47, pp. 5-10, Sept 2000.

[3] T. Jauch, A. Kara, R. Mohamed and D. Westermann, "Power quality ensured by dynamic voltage restoration," ABB Review 4, pp. 25-36, May 1998.

[4] V.B Bharajavu and P.N. Enjeti, "Analysis, design of an active power filter for balancing unbalanced loads," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 8, pp. 640-647, Oct. 1993.

[5] A. Campos, G. Joos, P.D. Ziogas and J.F. Lindsay, "Analysis, design of a series voltage unbalanced compensator based on three phase VSI operating with unbalanced switching functions," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 9, pp. 269-274, May 1994.

[6] F. Z. Peng, H. Akagi and A. Nabae, "A new approach to harmonic compensation in power system - A combined system of shunt passive and series active filters," IEEE Transactions on Industry applications, vol. 26, pp.983-990, Nov. 1990.

[7] S. Bhattacharya and D. Divan, "Synchronous frame based controller implementation for a hybrid series active filter system," in Proceedings of the IEEE Industry Applications Conference (IAS), vol. 3, pp. 2531-2540, Orlando, Florida, Oct. 8-12, 1995.

[8] F. Z. Peng, "Application issues and characteristics of active power filters", IEEE Industrial Applications Magazine, Vol. 4, pp. 21-30, Sept/Oct, 1998. [9] Peng, F. Z., Gui-Jia Su, George Farquharson, "A series LC filter for harmonic compensation of AC drives," in Proceedings of the 30th annual IEEE Power Electronics Specialist Conference, vol. 1, pp.213-219, Charleston, SC, 1999.

[10] T. Wunderlin, O. Amhof, P. Dahler and H. Gunning, "Power supply quality improvement with a dynamic voltage restorer (DVR)", in IEEE International Conference on Energy Management and Power delivery, Singapore, pp. 518-525, March 1998.

[11] B. Singh, K. Al-Haddad and A. Chandra, "A review of active power filters for power quality improvement," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 46, no. 5, pp. 960-970, Oct. 1999.

[12] C. Hochgraf and R. H. Lassetar, "Statcom controls for operation with unbalanced voltages," IEEE Transaction on Power Delivery, vol. 13, pp. 538-544, April 1998.

[13] J. W. Dixon, J. J. Garcia, and L. Moran, "Control system for three-phase active power filter which simultaneously compensates power factor and unbalanced loads," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 636-641, Dec. 1995.

[14] H. Fujita and H. Akagi, "The unified power quality conditioner: the integration of series and shunt active filters," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 315-322, March 1998.

[15] H. Akagi and H. Fujita, "A new power line conditioner for harmonic compensation in power systems," IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 1570-1575, July 1995.

[16] M. Aredes, K. Heuman, E. H. Watanabe, "A universal active power line conditioner," IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 545-551, April 1998.

149

[17] M. Rastogi, N. Mohan, A. Edris, "Hybrid active filtering of harmonic currents in power systems," IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 10, no. 4, pp.1994-2000, Oct. 1995.

[18] J. W. Dixon, G. Venegas and L. A. Moran, "A series active power filter based on sinusoidal current controlled voltage source inverter," IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 612-619, Oct. 1997.

[19] H. Akagi, Y. Kanazawa, and A. Nabae, "Instantaneous reactive power compensators comprising switching devices without energy storage components," IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. IA-20, no. 3, pp. 625-630, May/June 1984.

[20] Po-Tai Cheng, Subhashish Bhattacharya and Deepak Divan, "Experimental Verification of dominant harmonic active filter for high power application," IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 567-577, March/April 2000.

[21] W. M. Grady, M. J. Samotyj, and A. H. Noyola, "Minimizing network harmonic voltage distortion with an active power line conditioner," IEEE Transactions on Power Delivery, vol. 6, pp. 1690-1697, Oct. 1991.

[22] Sebastien Mariethoz, Alfred C. Rufer, "Open loop and closed loop spectral frequency active filtering," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 564-573, July 2002.

[23] A. Kawamura and R. G. Hoft, "Instantaneous feedback controlled PWM inverter with adaptive hysteresis," IEEE Transactions on Industry Applications, vol. 20, pp. 769– 775, Aug. 1984.

150

[24] A. Kawamura, T. Haneyoshi, and R. G. Hoft, "Deadbeat controlled PWM inverter with parameters estimation using only voltage sensor," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 3, pp. 118–158, Mar. 1988.

[25] S. Muthu and J. M. S. Kim, "Discrete-time sliding mode control for output voltage regulation of three-phase voltage source inverters," Proceedings of the IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Expo, pp. 129–135, 1998.

[26] Naser M. Abdel-Rahim, Quaicoe, John. E., "Analysis and design of a multiple feedback loop control strategy for single phase voltage source UPS inverters," IEEE Transactions on power electronics, vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 532-541, July 1996.

[27] Kannan Karthik "An Improved Control Strategy for a Hybrid Series Compensator,"M. Eng thesis, Memorial University of Newfoundland, July 2001.

Appendix A

Simulation Models

The simulation results presented in this thesis were obtained with the aid of Matlab (version 6) and Simulink (version 4). The models were constructed using the control systems and simulink toolboxes as well as the power system block set. The resulting system models are stiff and hence require integro-differential equation solvers suitable for stiff systems. ODE 23tb, a variable step continuous solver was found to result in the convergence of the solution with minimum simulation time.

Since the models required elements from the simulink and power systems block set, Controlled voltage and current sources were used to interface between simulink signals and Power system blocks signals. Voltage and current measurement blocks were used to sense power system voltages and current for input into simulink and control system tools for the necessary control actions.

A.1 Active filter Inverter



Fig A.1: Model of the active filter inverter control (Active filter subsystem)

A.2 Supply and Passive filters



Fig A.2: Three-phase supply (voltage sources subsystem)



Fig A.3: The series passive filter subsystem



Fig A.4: The shunt passive filter subsystem

A.3 Load



Fig A.5: The voltage source non-linear load (VSNL) subsystem



Fig A.6: The current source non-linear load (CSNL) subsystem

A.4 Harmonic current extraction



Fig A.7: Harmonic current extraction unit



Fig A.8: abc-to-dq transformation block – subsystem of the harmonic current extraction unit



Fig A.9: dq-to-abc transformation block - subsystem of the harmonic current extraction unit

A.5 Distortion voltage extraction



Fig A.10: Distortion voltage extraction subsystem

A.6 Compensation systems

The four compensation system models were constructed using the various subsystems in a modular setup. The active filters are shown in Fig A.11-A.14, only in phase a to avoid clutter in the figures. The result of the simulation are written to the matlab workspace using the "to workspace block" where calculations and fft analysis are carried out and the results plotted where appropriate. "Goto and from" blocks are used to transfer data from one point in the subsystems to another to allow for modularity of the systems.



Fig A.11: Type A Compensation System



Fig A.12: Type B Compensation System



Fig A.13: Type C Compensation System



Fig A.14: Type D Compensation System


A.15: Separately excited DC motor load



A.16: PWM based Induction motor drive

Appendix B

Matlab Programs

B.1 Basic fft function routine called by the programs

function [mag, f]=specFFT(x,dt)

- % This function returns the magnitude and frequencies
- % of the sinusoidal signals that make up the function x. The function
- % x should have an even number of points.
- % Frequency (f) is in Hz.

xfft = fft(x);

N = length(xfft);

mag = abs(xfft(1:((N/2)+1)));

f = (0:(N/2))/(N*dt);

B.2 Main analysis and plot program

%This program accepts the data written into the workspace by the simulink models and computes the frequency spectrum by calling the basic function "specFFT", plots the data and calculates the total harmonic distortion.

dt=0.00001; % sampling frequency

n=length(t);

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(t,iload_a);

grid on

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(t,ia)

grid on

figure

[ILA,freq1]=specFFT(iload_a,dt); % load current analysis

ILA=ILA*2/n;

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(freq1/60,ILA)

grid on

%axis([0 2000 0 40])

Thd=0;

for f=37:24:10000

Thd=Thd+ILA(f)*ILA(f);

end

Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(ILA(13));

disp('the load current thd is')

disp([Thd])

% axis([0 2000 0 40])

[IAS,freq2]=specFFT(ia,dt); % source current analysis

IAS=IAS*2/n;

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(freq2/60,IAS)

%axis([0 2000 0 40])

grid on

Thd=0;

for f=37:24:10000

Thd=Thd+IAS(f)*IAS(f);

end

Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(IAS(13));

disp('the source current thd is')

disp([Thd])

figure

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(t,va)

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(t,vload_a)

figure

[VAS,freq5]=specFFT(va,dt); %Source voltage analysis

VAS=VAS*2/n;

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(freq5/60,VAS)

grid on

```
axis([0 1200 0 200])
```

Thd=0;

for f=37:24:10000

Thd=Thd+VAS(f)*VAS(f);

end

```
Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(VAS(13));
```

disp('the source voltage thd is')

disp([Thd])

[VAL,pha,freq6]=specFFT(vload_a,dt); %Load voltage analysis

VAL=VAL*2/n;

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(freq6/60,VAL)

grid on

axis([0 1200 0 200])

Thd=0;

for f=37:24:10000

Thd=Thd+VAL(f)*VAL(f);

end

Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(VAL(13));

disp('the load voltage thd is')

disp([Thd])

figure

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(t,iload_a1)

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(t,iload_a2)

figure

[IAL1,freq6]=specFFT(iload_a1,dt); %VSNL load current analysis

IAL1=IAL1*2/n;

subplot(2,1,1)

plot(freq6/60,IAL1)

grid on

```
axis([0 1200 0 200])
```

Thd=0;

```
for f=37:24:10000
```

Thd=Thd+IAL1(f)*IAL1(f);

end

```
Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(IAL1(13));
```

```
disp('the thd of the VSNL is')
```

disp([Thd])

[IAL2, freq6]=specFFT(iload_a2,dt); %CSNL load current analysis

IAL2=IAL2*2/n;

subplot(2,1,2)

plot(freq6/60,IAL2)

grid on

```
axis([0 1200 0 200])
```

Thd=0;

for f=37:24:10000

Thd=Thd+IAL2(f)*IAL2(f);

end

Thd=sqrt(Thd)/(IAL2(13));

disp('the thd of the CSNL is')

disp([Thd])

figure

subplot(211)

plot(t,ipaf)

subplot(212), plot(t,vs)

B.3 Ratings evaluation program

B.3.1 Type 1 rating

% Series active filter rating for a reference load of 1p.u and sag of 0.3-0.7 % percent for s = 0.3:0.1:0.7sload=1; THD=0:100; saf1=(s./(1+THD/100)).*sload; plot(sload, THD) hold on xlabel('Total harmonic distortion, THD%') ylabel('series active compensator rating, per unit') grid on %title('increase of series compensator rating for a sag of 50% and various THD') end % Variation of series active filter rating for increasing load and a fixed THD of 50 percent for x=0.3:0.1:0.7 sload=0:0.1:1;

THD=50;

saf1=(x./(1+THD/100)).*sload;

plot(sload,saf1)

hold on

xlabel('load rating')

ylabel('series active compensator rating per unit')

grid on

%title('increase of series compensator rating for a sag of 50% and various THD') end

B.3.2 Type 3 rating

% This part calculates the rating of the active filter for increasing THD and a fixed reference load of 1p.u for various levels of passive filter compensation

Ilh=1;

```
for Ir=0:0.2:1;
```

sload=1;

THD=0:100;

saf2=(((THD/100)*(1-Ir))./(1+THD/100)).*sload;

plot(THD,saf2)

hold on

end

xlabel('Total harmonic distortion, %')

```
ylabel('Active filter rating, pu')
```

grid on

figure

%This part calculates the rating of the active filter for increasing load %and total harmonic distortion.

```
for Ir=0:0.1:1
sload=0:0.01:1;
THD=50;
saf2=(((THD/100)*(1-Ir))/(1+THD/100)).*sload;
plot(sload,saf2)
hold on
end
grid on
xlabel('Load rating, pu')
ylabel('Active filter rating, pu')
```

B.3.3 Type 4 rating

%This part calculates the shunt active filter rating for increasing THD and and a refer-

```
ence load of 1p.u
```

```
for zr=0.0:0.1:0.7;
```

THD=0:100;

```
saf2=(THD/100)*zr./(1+THD/100);
```

```
plot(THD,saf2)
```

hold on

end

xlabel('total harmonic distortion, %')

ylabel('shunt active filter rating, pu')

grid on

figure

%This part computes the rating of the shunt active filter for a fixed THD and increasing load.

for zr=0.0:0.1:0.5;

THD=50;

sload=0:0.01:1;

saf2=((THD/100)*zr./(1+THD/100)).*sload;

plot(sload,saf2)

hold on

end

```
xlabel('Load rating, %')
```

ylabel('Shunt active filter rating, pu')

grid on







